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DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY

FORM 10-K
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2012

DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Form 10-K that relate to forecasts, estimates or other expectations regarding future
events, including without limitation, statements under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Business”
regarding technological advancements and our financial position, business strategy and plans and objectives of our management for future operations, may be
deemed to be forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). When used in this Form 10-K, words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend” and similar expressions, as
they relate to us or our management, identify forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are based on the beliefs of our management, as well
as assumptions made by and information currently available to management. Actual results could differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-
looking statements as a result of certain factors, including but not limited to the volatility of oil and natural gas prices, dependence upon energy industry spending,
disruptions in the global economy, industry competition, delays, reductions or cancellations of service contracts, high fixed costs of operations, external factors
affecting our crews such as weather interruptions and inability to obtain land access rights of way, reduced utilization, the type of contracts we enter into, crew
productivity, limited number of customers, credit risk related to our customers, the availability of capital resources and operational disruptions. See “Risk Factors”
for more information on these and other factors. These forward-looking statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and are subject to these
and other risks, uncertainties and assumptions relating to our operations, results of operations, growth strategies and liquidity. All subsequent written and oral
forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by this paragraph. We assume no obligation
to update any such forward-looking statements.

Part I

Item 1.    BUSINESS

General

Dawson Geophysical Company (the “Company”), a Texas corporation, is a leading provider of onshore seismic data acquisition and processing services in
the lower 48 states of the United States. Founded in 1952, we acquire and process 2-D, 3-D and multi-component seismic data for our clients, ranging from major
oil and gas companies to independent oil and gas operators, as well as providers of multi-client data libraries. During 2012, we entered the Canadian market by
forming a new Canadian subsidiary. Over the past few years the focus of our efforts has shifted between natural gas and oil-based exploration projects. Natural
gas projects were our primary focus until late 2008. Since that time, we have experienced a gradual shift in activity to oil exploration, which has accelerated as oil
prices have remained at a relatively high level in 2010, 2011 and 2012 while natural gas prices have been relatively low during these periods. The majority of our
crews are currently working in oil and liquids-rich producing basins. Our clients rely on seismic data to identify areas where subsurface conditions are favorable
for the accumulation of hydrocarbons and to optimize the development and production of hydrocarbon reservoirs. During fiscal 2012, substantially all of our
revenues were derived from 3-D seismic data acquisition operations.

As of September 30, 2012, we operated fourteen 3-D seismic data acquisition crews in the lower 48 states of the United States and a seismic data
processing center. We market and supplement our services in the lower 48 from our headquarters in Midland, Texas and from additional offices in Houston,
Denver, Oklahoma City and Pittsburgh. Our geophysicists perform data processing in our Midland, Houston and Oklahoma City offices, and our field operations
are supported from our field office facility in Midland. We anticipate operating one data acquisition crew in Canada during the 2012-2013 winter season and do
not expect these operations to have a
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significant impact on our fiscal 2013 financial results. We will market and supplement our services in Canada from our office in Calgary, Canada. The results of a
seismic survey conducted for a client belong to that client. We do not acquire seismic data for our own account nor do we participate in oil and gas ventures.

Demand for our data acquisition services is closely linked to oil and natural gas prices and the related level of spending for exploration and development of
oil and natural gas reserves. With the decline in the market prices for oil, and especially natural gas following the financial crisis of late 2008, we experienced a
severe reduction in demand for our services beginning in early fiscal 2009. As a result, we reduced the number of active data acquisition crews we operated from
sixteen in January 2009 to nine in October 2009. Since the middle of fiscal 2010, we have experienced stronger demand for our services and, as a result, we
redeployed three data acquisition crews during fiscal 2010 and two data acquisition crews during fiscal 2011, bringing our current total to fourteen active crews.

Business Strategy

Our strategy is to maintain our leadership position in the U.S. onshore market and build our business in Canada. Key elements of our strategy include:
 

 •  Attracting and retaining skilled and experienced personnel for our data acquisition and processing operations;
 

 
•  Providing integrated in-house services necessary in each phase of seismic data acquisition and processing, including project design, land access

permitting, surveying and related support functions as well as continuing the enhancement of our in-house health, safety, security and environmental
programs;

 

 •  Maintaining the focus of our operations on the North American onshore seismic market with a primary focus on the lower 48 United States;
 

 •  Continuing to operate with conservative financial discipline;
 

 •  Updating our capabilities to incorporate advances in geophysical and supporting technologies; and
 

 •  Acquiring equipment to expand the recording channel capacity on our existing crews and equipping additional crews as market conditions dictate.

Business Description

Geophysical Services Overview. Our business consists of the acquisition and processing of seismic data to produce an image of the earth’s subsurface. The
seismic method involves the recording of reflected acoustic or sonic waves from below the ground. In our operations, we introduce acoustic energy into the
ground by using an acoustic energy source, usually large vibrating machines or through the detonation of dynamite. We then record the subsequent reflected
energy, or echoes, with recording devices placed along the earth’s surface. These recording devices, or geophones, are placed on the ground individually or in
groups connected together as a single recording channel. We generally use thousands of recording channels in our seismic surveys. Additional recording channels
enhance the resolution of the seismic survey through increased imaging analysis and provide improved operational efficiencies for our clients.

We are able to collect seismic data using either 3-D or 2-D methods. During fiscal 2012, substantially all of our revenues were derived from 3-D seismic
data acquisition. Continued technological advances in seismic equipment and computing allow us to economically acquire and process data by placing large
numbers of energy sources and recording channels over a broad area. The industry refers to the technique of broad distribution of energy sources and recording
channels as the 3-D seismic method. The 3-D method creates an immense volume of seismic data which produces more precise images of the earth’s subsurface.
Geophysicists use computers to interpret 3-D seismic data volumes, generate geologic models of the earth’s subsurface and identify subsurface features that are
favorable for the accumulation of hydrocarbons. In contrast with 3-D methods, the 2-D method
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involves the collection of seismic data in a linear fashion thus generating a single plane of subsurface seismic data. In recent years, the 2-D seismic method has
been used as a regional evaluation tool in many of the limited access shale basins, in particular the Marcellus Shale in the Appalachian Basin, in which we
operated one small channel count crew for a portion of fiscal 2012.

3-D seismic data are used in the exploration for new reserves and enable oil and gas companies to better delineate existing fields and to augment their
reservoir completion and management techniques. Benefits of incorporating high resolution 3-D seismic surveys into exploration and development programs
include reducing drilling risk, decreasing oil and natural gas finding costs and increasing the efficiencies of reservoir location, delineation, completion and
management. In order to meet the requirements necessary to fully realize the benefits of 3-D seismic data, there is an increasing demand for improved data quality
with greater subsurface resolution. We are prepared to meet such demands with the implementation of improved techniques and evolving technology. In recent
years, we have steadily increased the recording capacity of our crews by increasing channel count and the number of energy source units we operate. These
increases allow for a greater density of both channels and energy sources in order to increase resolution and to improve operating efficiencies. We have also
utilized multi-component recording equipment on several projects in an effort to gain more information to help our clients enhance their development of
producing reservoirs. Multi-component recording involves the collection of different seismic waves, including shear waves, which aids in reservoir analysis such
as fracture orientation and intensity in shales and more descriptive rock properties.

In recent years, we have experienced continued increases in recording channel capacity on a per crew or project basis. This increase in channel count
demand is driven by client needs and is necessary in order to produce higher resolution images, increase crew efficiencies and undertake larger scale projects. Due
to the increase in demand for higher channel counts, we have continued our investments in additional channels. In response to project-based channel
requirements, we routinely deploy a variable number of channels on a variable number of crews in an effort to maximize asset utilization and meet client needs.
We believe we will realize the benefit of increased channel counts and flexibility of deployment through increased crew efficiencies, higher revenues and
margins.

During fiscal 2011 and 2012, we purchased or leased a significant number of cable-less recording channels. We have utilized this equipment as primarily
stand-alone recording systems but on occasion in conjunction with our cable-based systems. As a result of the introduction of cable-less recording systems, we
have realized increased crew efficiencies and increased revenue on projects using this equipment. We believe we will experience continued demand for cable-less
recording systems in the future. As we have replaced cable-based recording equipment with cable-less equipment on certain crews, the cable-based recording
equipment continues to be redeployed on existing crews as needed, including on the additional two crews fielded during the second quarter of fiscal 2011.

Data Acquisition. The seismic survey begins at the time a client requests that we formulate a proposal to acquire seismic data on its behalf. Geophysicists
then assist the client in designing the specifications of the proposed 3-D survey. If the client accepts our proposal, permit agents, either our employees or contract
agents, then obtain access rights of way from surface and mineral estate owners or lessees where the survey is to be conducted. From time to time, our clients
undertake the permitting effort on their own prior to our submittal of a proposal.

Utilizing electronic surveying equipment, survey personnel, who are either our employees or contract companies, precisely locate the energy source and
receiver positions from which the seismic data are collected. We use vibrator energy sources which are mounted on vehicles, the majority of which weigh 62,000
pounds each, to generate seismic energy, or we detonate dynamite charges placed in holes drilled below the earth’s surface. We use third-party contractors for the
drilling of holes and the purchasing, handling and disposition of dynamite charges. We also use third-party helicopter services to move equipment in areas of
difficult terrain in an effort to increase efficiency and reduce safety risk.
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We currently own 169 vibrator energy source units and over 167,000 recording channels. We also currently own eighteen central recording systems. Of the
eighteen recording systems we owned at September 30, 2012, six are Geospace Technologies GSR cable-less recording systems, eight are ARAM ARIES cable-
based recording systems and four are I/O System II RSR radio-based recording systems. All of our systems record equivalent seismic information but vary in the
manner by which seismic data are transferred to the central recording unit, as well as their operational flexibility and channel count expandability. From time to
time, we utilize the cable-less Geospace Technologies GSR system in conjunction with the ARAM ARIES cable system to increase the flexibility and recording
capacity of the cable system.

At fiscal year-end 2012, we operated fourteen land-based seismic data acquisition crews. Each crew consists of approximately forty to one hundred
technicians, twenty-five or more vehicles with off-road capabilities, up to 100,000 geophones, a seismic recording system, energy sources, electronic cables and a
variety of other equipment. Our equipment may be configured on our crews in various combinations to meet the demands of specific survey designs.

Of the fourteen data acquisition crews in operation at September 30, 2012, five used GSR recording systems, six used ARAM recording systems, and three
used RSR recording systems. All of our crews utilize either vibrator energy sources or dynamite energy sources. While the number of recording systems we own
is in excess of the number needed to field our current level of data acquisition crews, we maintain the excess equipment to provide additional operational
flexibility and to allow us to quickly deploy additional recording channels and energy source units as needed to respond to client demand and clients’ desire for
improved data quality with greater subsurface images.

Client demand for more recording channels continues to increase as the industry strives for improved data quality with higher resolution subsurface images.
We believe this trend will continue and that our ability to deploy a large number of recording channels and multiple energy source units provides us with the
competitive advantages of operational versatility and increased productivity, in addition to improved data quality.

Data Processing. We currently operate a computer center located in Midland, Texas and provide additional processing services through our Houston and
Oklahoma City offices. Data processing primarily involves the enhancement of seismic data by improving reflected signal resolution, removing ambient noise
and establishing proper spatial relationships of geological features. The data are then formatted in such a manner that computer graphic technology may be
employed for examination and interpretation of the data by the user.

We continue to improve data processing efficiency and accuracy with the addition of improved processing software and high-speed computer technology.
We purchase, develop or lease seismic data processing software under non-exclusive licensing arrangements.

Our computer center processes seismic data collected by our crews, as well as by other geophysical contractors. In addition, we reprocess previously
recorded seismic data using current technology to enhance the data quality. Our processing contracts may be awarded jointly with, or independently from, data
acquisition services. Data processing services comprise a small portion of our overall revenues.

Integrated Services. We maintain integrated in-house operations necessary to the development and completion of seismic surveys. Our experienced
personnel have the capability to conduct or supervise the seismic survey design, permitting, surveying, data acquisition and processing functions for each seismic
program. In-house support operations include health, safety, security and environmental programs as well as facilities for vehicle repair, vehicle paint and body
repair, electronics repair, electrical engineering and software development. In addition, we perform line clearing operations, own temporary housing facilities and
maintain a fleet of tractor trailers to transport our seismic acquisition equipment to our survey sites. We believe that maintaining as many of these functions as
possible in-house contributes to better quality control and improved efficiency in our operations. Our clients are responsible for the interpretation of the seismic
data we provide.
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Equipment Acquisition and Capital Expenditures

We monitor and evaluate advances in geophysical technology and commit capital funds to purchase the equipment we deem most effective to maintain our
competitive position. Purchasing new assets and upgrading existing capital assets requires a commitment to capital spending. During fiscal 2012, we invested
$47,664,000 primarily on equipment and energy sources, including nineteen INOVA vibrator energy source units, 10,500 additional Geospace Technologies GSR
single-channel recording units, 3,000 stations of Geospace Technologies GSR three-channel units with three-component geophones and additional conventional
geophones. These purchases reflect our belief that the trend towards increased channel counts and energy sources in our industry will continue. Our Board of
Directors has approved an initial $40,000,000 capital budget for fiscal 2013 which will be used to purchase nine INOVA AHV IV 364 vibrator energy sources
units, increase channel count, make technical improvements in various phases of our operations and meet maintenance capital requirements. We believe that these
additions will allow us to maintain our competitive position as we respond to client desire for higher resolution subsurface images.

Clients

Our services are marketed by supervisory and executive personnel who contact clients to determine geophysical needs and respond to client inquiries
regarding the availability of crews or processing schedules. These contacts are based principally upon professional relationships developed over a number of
years.

Our clients range from major oil and gas companies to small independent oil and gas operators and also providers of multi-client data libraries. The
services we provide to our clients vary according to the size and needs of each client. During fiscal 2012, sales to our largest client, Chesapeake Energy
Corporation, represented 21% of our revenue. The remaining balance of our fiscal 2012 revenue was derived from varied clients and none represented 10% or
more of our fiscal 2012 revenues. We anticipate that sales to Chesapeake will represent a smaller percentage of our overall revenues during fiscal 2013.

We do not acquire data for our own account or for future sale, maintain multi-client data libraries or participate in oil and gas ventures. The results of a
seismic survey conducted for a client belong to that client. It is also our policy that none of our officers, directors or employees actively participate in oil and
natural gas ventures. All of our clients’ information is maintained in the strictest confidence.

Contracts

Our data acquisition services are conducted under master service contracts with our clients. These master service contracts define certain obligations for us
and for our clients. A supplemental agreement setting forth the terms of a specific project, which may be cancelled by either party on short notice, is entered into
for every data acquisition project. The supplemental agreements are either “turnkey” agreements that provide for a fixed fee to be paid to us for each unit of data
acquired, or “term” agreements that provide for a fixed hourly, daily or monthly fee during the term of the project or projects. Turnkey agreements generally
provide us more profit potential, but involve more risks because of the potential of crew downtime or operational delays. We attempt to negotiate on a project-by-
project basis some level of weather downtime protection within the turnkey agreements. Under the term agreements, we forego an increased profit potential in
exchange for a more consistent revenue stream with improved protection from crew downtime or operational delays.

We operate under both turnkey and term supplemental agreements. The percentage of revenues derived from turnkey contracts has grown in the past few
years from approximately half of our revenues in fiscal 2008 to in excess of three-quarters of our revenues in fiscal 2012. Currently, most of our projects are
operated under turnkey agreements. However, in the first quarter of fiscal 2013 we have observed an increase in inquiries and requests for term agreements.
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Competition

The acquisition and processing of seismic data for the oil and natural gas industry is a highly competitive business in the United States. Contracts for such
services generally are awarded on the basis of price quotations, crew experience and availability of crews to perform in a timely manner, although factors other
than price, such as crew safety, performance history and technological and operational expertise, are often determinative. Our competitors include companies with
financial resources that are significantly greater than our own as well as companies of comparable and smaller size. Our primary competitors are CGG Veritas,
Geokinetics Inc., Global Geophysical Services, Tidelands Geophysical Company and TESLA Exploration. In addition, the barriers to entry in the seismic industry
are not prohibitive, and it would not be difficult for seismic companies outside of the United States to enter the United States market and compete with us.

Employees

As of September 30, 2012, we employed approximately 1,452 persons, of which 1,295 were engaged in providing energy sources and acquiring data. With
respect to the remainder of our employees, ten are engaged in data processing, sixty-eight are administrative personnel, sixty-five are engaged in equipment
maintenance and transport and fourteen are officers. Of the employees listed above, nine are geophysicists. Our employees are not represented by a labor union.
We believe we have good relations with our employees.

Available Information

All of our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports filed with or
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on or after May 9, 1995 are available free of charge through our Internet Website,
www.dawson3d.com, as soon as reasonably practical after we have electronically filed such material with, or furnished it to, the SEC. Information contained on
our Internet Website is not incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet Website containing reports,
proxy and information statements, and other information filed electronically at www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy this information, for a copying fee, at
the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington,  D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 to obtain information on the operation
of the Public Reference Room.

Item 1A.    RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock is subject to a number of risks, including those discussed below. You should carefully consider these discussions of risk
and the other information included in this Form 10-K. Although the risks described below are the risks that we believe are material to our business, they are not
the only risks that could affect our business. If any of the following events were to occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be
materially adversely affected.

Our business depends on the level of exploration and production activities by the oil and natural gas industry. If oil and natural gas prices or the level of
capital expenditures by oil and gas companies were to decline, demand for our services would decline and our results of operations would be adversely
affected.

Demand for our services depends upon the level of spending by oil and natural gas companies for exploration, production, development and field
management activities, which depend, in part, on oil and natural gas prices. Significant fluctuations in oil and natural gas exploration activities and commodity
prices have adversely affected the demand for our services and our results of operations in years past and would continue to do so if the level of such exploration
activities and the prices for oil and natural gas were to decline in the future. In addition to the market prices of oil and natural gas, our clients’ willingness to
explore, develop and produce depends largely upon prevailing industry conditions that are influenced by numerous factors over which our management has no
control, including general economic conditions and the availability of credit. In particular, the market price of natural gas has been depressed for the past few
years, and the demand for our services by
 

7



Table of Contents

clients seeking natural gas has sharply declined over the same period. There can be no assurance that the current level of energy prices will be maintained or that
exploration and development activities by our clients will be maintained at current levels. Any significant decline in exploration or production-related spending
by our clients, whether due to a decrease in the market prices for oil and natural gas or otherwise, would have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations. Additionally, increases in oil and gas prices may not increase demand for our products and services or otherwise have a positive effect on our results
of operations or financial condition.

Factors affecting the prices of oil and natural gas and our clients’ desire to explore, develop and produce include:
 

 •  the level of supply and demand for oil and natural gas;
 

 •  the level of prices, and expectations about future prices, for oil and natural gas;
 

 •  the ability of oil and gas producers to raise equity capital and debt financing;
 

 •  the worldwide political, military and economic conditions;
 

 •  the ability of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries to set and maintain production levels and prices for oil;
 

 •  the rate of discovery of new oil and gas reserves and the decline of existing oil and gas reserves;
 

 •  the cost of exploring for, developing and producing oil and natural gas;
 

 
•  the ability of exploration and production companies to generate funds or otherwise obtain capital for exploration, development and production

operations;
 

 •  technological advances affecting energy exploration, production and consumption;
 

 
•  government policies, including environmental regulations and tax policies, regarding the exploration for, production and development of oil and

natural gas reserves and the use of fossil fuels and alternative energy sources; and
 

 •  weather conditions, including large-scale weather events such as hurricanes that affect oil and gas operations over a wide area or affect prices.

The markets for oil and natural gas have historically been volatile and are likely to continue to be so in the future. See “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview.”

Weakness in the global economy during the past few years decreased demand for our seismic services, caused downward pressure on the prices we charge
and affected our results of operations. Any renewed weakness in the global economy would likely adversely affect us in a similar manner.

Beginning in August 2008, disruptions and instability in the global financial markets and a worldwide recession forced many of our customers to abandon
their development plans and to significantly reduce their capital expenditures during fiscal years 2009 and 2010. As a consequence, we experienced a severe
reduction in demand for our services, downward pressure on the prices we charged our customers for our services, and our results of operations were adversely
affected during these years. During this period, we also reduced the number of data acquisition crews we operated from sixteen in January 2009 to nine in
October 2009, which reflects the decrease in demand for our services. Since the beginning of fiscal 2010, the financial crisis has eased, the price of oil has
stabilized and demand for our services and our financial performance has improved. However, if economic conditions were to once again worsen, forcing our
customers to reduce their capital expenditures, demand for our seismic services would decline and our results of operations would again be affected. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview.”
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We face intense competition in our business that could result in downward pricing pressure and the loss of market share.

The acquisition and processing of seismic data for the oil and natural gas industry is a highly competitive business in the United States. Some of our
competitors have financial resources that are significantly greater than our own. Additionally, the seismic data acquisition business is extremely price competitive
and has a history of periods in which seismic contractors bid jobs below cost and therefore adversely affect industry pricing. Many contracts are awarded on a bid
basis, which may further increase competition based primarily on price. In addition, the barriers to entry in the seismic industry are not prohibitive, and it would
not be difficult for seismic companies outside of the United States to enter the United States market and compete with us. Competition from these and other
competitors could result in downward pricing pressure and the loss of market share. See “Business — Competition.”

Our clients could delay, reduce or cancel their service contracts with us on short notice, which may lead to lower than expected demand and revenues.

Our order book reflects client commitments at levels we believe are sufficient to maintain operations on our existing crews for the indicated periods.
However, our clients can delay, reduce or cancel their service contracts with us on short notice. In addition, the timing of the completion of projects and when
projects are awarded and contracted for is also uncertain. As a result, our order book as of any particular date may not be indicative of actual demand and
revenues for any succeeding fiscal period. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview.”

The high fixed costs of our operations could adversely affect our results of operations.

Our business has high fixed costs, which primarily consist of depreciation, maintenance expenses associated with our seismic data acquisition and
processing equipment and certain crew costs. In periods of reductions in crew utilization or low crew productivity, these fixed costs do not decline as rapidly as
our revenues. As a result, any significant downtime or low productivity caused by reduced demand, weather interruptions, equipment failures, permit delays or
other causes could adversely affect our results of operations. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —
Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

Our revenues are subject to fluctuations that are beyond our control which could adversely affect our results of operations in any financial period.

Our operating results vary in material respects from quarter to quarter and will continue to do so in the future. Factors that cause variations include the
timing of the receipt of contracts for data acquisition, timing of the commencement and completion of work under data acquisition contracts, land access permit
and weather delays, seasonal factors such as holiday schedules, shorter winter days or agricultural or hunting seasons, and crew repositioning and crew utilization
and productivity. Should one or more of our fourteen crews experience changes in timing due to one or more of these factors, our financial results could be
subject to significant variations from period to period. Combined with our high fixed costs, these revenue fluctuations could also produce unexpected adverse
results of operations in any fiscal period. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview.”

Inclement weather may adversely affect our ability to complete projects and could therefore adversely affect our results of operations.

Our seismic data acquisition operations could be adversely affected by inclement weather conditions. Delays associated with weather conditions could
adversely affect our results of operations. For example, weather delays could affect our operations on a particular project or an entire region and could lengthen
the time to complete data acquisition projects. In addition, even if we negotiate weather protection provisions in our contracts, we may not be fully compensated
by our clients for the delay caused by the inclement weather. Delays from adverse weather conditions have particularly affected our results of operations in past
periods and are likely to affect our results in future periods. See “Business — Contracts.”
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Our operations are subject to delays related to obtaining land access rights from third parties which could affect our results of operations.

Our seismic data acquisition operations could be adversely affected by our inability to obtain timely right of way usage from both public and private land
and/or mineral owners. We cannot begin surveys on property without obtaining permits from governmental entities as well as the permission of the private
landowners who own the land being surveyed. In recent years, it has become more difficult, costly and time-consuming to obtain access rights of way as drilling
activities have expanded into more populated areas. Additionally, while landowners generally are cooperative in granting access rights, some have become more
resistant to seismic and drilling activities occurring on their property. In addition, governmental entities do not always grant permits within the time periods
expected. Delays associated with obtaining such rights of way have negatively affected our results of operations in past periods and may affect our results in
future periods. See “Business — Data Acquisition.”

Our profitability is determined, in part, by the utilization level and productivity of our crews and the type of contracts we enter into and is affected by
numerous external factors that are beyond our control.

Our revenue is determined, in part, by the contract price we receive for our services, the level of utilization of our fourteen data acquisition crews, and the
productivity of these crews. Crew utilization and productivity is partly a function of external factors, such as client cancellation or delay of projects, or operating
delays from inclement weather or in obtaining land access rights, over which we have no control. If our crews encounter operational difficulties or delays on any
data acquisition survey, our results of operations may vary, and in some cases, may be adversely affected.

In fiscal 2012, most of our projects were performed on a turnkey basis for which we were paid a fixed price for a defined scope of work or unit of data
acquired. The revenue, cost and gross profit realized under our turnkey contracts can vary from our estimates because of changes in job conditions, variations in
labor and equipment productivity or because of the performance of our subcontractors. Turnkey contracts may also cause us to bear substantially all of the risks of
business interruption caused by external factors over which we may have no control, such as weather, obtaining land access rights, crew downtime or operational
delays. These variations, delays and risks inherent in turnkey contracts may result in reducing our profitability. See “Business — Contracts.”

A limited number of customers operating in a single industry account for a significant portion of our revenues, and the loss of one of these customers
could adversely affect our results of operations; we bear the risk if any of our clients become insolvent and fail to pay amounts owed to us, so any failure
to pay by these clients could harm our results of operations.

We derive a significant amount of our revenues from a relatively small number of oil and gas exploration and development companies. Although our ten
largest customers in fiscal 2012 and 2011 have varied, these customers accounted for approximately 67% and 78% of our total revenue for these respective
periods. For the year ended September 30, 2012, our largest client represented approximately 21% of total revenues. If this client, or any of our other significant
clients, were to terminate their contracts or fail to contract for our services in the future because they are acquired, alter their exploration or development strategy,
experience financial difficulties or for any other reason, our results of operations could be adversely affected. See “Business — Clients.”

We bear the credit risk if any of our clients become insolvent and fail to pay amounts owed to us. Although we perform ongoing credit evaluations of our
customers’ financial conditions, we generally require no collateral from our customers. Some of our clients have experienced financial difficulties in the past and
even filed bankruptcy while others may do so in the future. It is possible that one or more of our clients will become financially distressed, which could cause
them to default on their obligations to us and could reduce the client’s future need for seismic services provided by us. Our concentration of customers may also
increase our overall exposure to these credit risks. Our inability to collect our accounts receivable could have a materially adverse effect on our results of
operations. In addition, from time to time, we experience contractual disputes with our
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clients regarding the payment of invoices or other matters. While we seek to minimize these disputes and maintain good relations with our clients, we have in the
past, and may in the future, experience disputes that could negatively affect our relationship with a client and consequently affect our results of operations in
future periods.

We may be unable to attract and retain skilled and technically knowledgeable employees which could adversely affect our business and our growth.

Our continued success depends upon attracting and retaining highly skilled professionals and other technical personnel. A number of our employees are
highly skilled scientists and highly trained technicians, and our failure to continue to attract and retain such individuals could adversely affect our ability to
compete in the seismic services industry. We may experience significant competition for these skilled and technically knowledgeable personnel, particularly
during periods of increased demand for seismic services. None of our employees are under employment contracts, and we have no key man insurance.

Capital requirements for our operations are large. If we are unable to finance these requirements, we may not be able to maintain our competitive
advantage.

Seismic data acquisition and data processing technologies historically have progressed rather rapidly, and we expect this trend to continue. In order to
remain competitive, we must continue to invest additional capital to maintain, upgrade and expand our seismic data acquisition capabilities. Our working capital
requirements continue to increase, primarily due to the expansion of our infrastructure in response to client demand for more recording channels, which has
increased as the industry strives for improved data quality with greater subsurface resolution images. Our sources of working capital are limited. We have
historically funded our working capital requirements with cash generated from operations, cash reserves and borrowings from commercial banks. Recently, we
have funded some of our capital expenditures through equipment term loans and capital leases. In the past, we have also funded our capital expenditures and other
financing needs through public equity offerings. If we were to expand our operations at a rate exceeding operating cash flow, if current demand or pricing of
geophysical services were to decrease substantially or if technical advances or competitive pressures required us to acquire new equipment faster than our cash
flow could sustain, additional financing could be required. If we were not able to obtain such financing or renew our existing revolving line of credit when
needed, our failure could have a negative impact on our ability to pursue expansion and maintain our competitive advantage. See “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

We rely on a limited number of key suppliers for specific seismic services and equipment.

We depend on a limited number of third parties to supply us with specific seismic services and equipment. From time to time, increased demand for seismic
data acquisition services has decreased the available supply of new seismic equipment, resulting in extended delivery dates on orders of new equipment. Any
delay in obtaining equipment could delay our deployment of additional crews and restrict the productivity of existing crews, adversely affecting our business and
results of operation. In addition, any adverse change in the terms of our suppliers’ arrangements could affect our results of operations.

Some of our suppliers may also be our competitors. If competitive pressures were to become such that our suppliers would no longer sell to us, we would
not be able to easily replace the technology with equipment that communicates effectively with our existing technology, thereby impairing our ability to conduct
our business.

Technological change in our business creates risks of technological obsolescence and requirements for future capital expenditures. If we are unable to
keep up with these technological advances, we may not be able to compete effectively.

Seismic data acquisition and data processing technologies historically have progressed rather rapidly, and we expect this progression to continue. In order
to remain competitive, we must continue to invest additional capital to maintain, upgrade and expand our seismic data acquisition capabilities. However, due to
potential advances in technology and the related costs associated with such technological advances, we may not be able to fulfill this strategy, thus possibly
affecting our ability to compete.
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Our results of operations could be adversely affected by asset impairments.

We periodically review our portfolio of equipment for impairment. If we expect significant sustained decreases in oil and natural gas prices and reduced
demand for our services, we may be required to write down the value of our equipment if the future cash flows anticipated to be generated from the related
equipment falls below net book value. If we are forced to write down the value of our equipment, these noncash asset impairments could negatively affect our
results of operations in the period in which they are recorded. See discussion of “Impairment of Long-Lived Assets” included in “Critical Accounting Policies.”

We operate under hazardous conditions that subject us to risk of damage to property or personnel injuries and may interrupt our business.

Our business is subject to the general risks inherent in land-based seismic data acquisition activities. Our activities are often conducted in remote areas
under extreme weather and other dangerous conditions, including the use of dynamite as an energy source. These operations are subject to risks of injury to our
personnel and third parties and damage to our equipment and improvements in the areas in which we operate. In addition, our crews often operate in areas where
the risk of wildfires is present and may be increased by our activities. Our crews are mobile, and equipment and personnel are subject to vehicular accidents. We
use diesel fuel which is classified by the U.S. Department of Transportation as a hazardous material. These risks could cause us to experience equipment losses,
injuries to our personnel and interruptions in our business. Delays due to operational disruptions such as equipment losses, personnel injuries and business
interruptions could adversely affect our profitability and results of operations.

We may be subject to liability claims that are not covered by our master service agreements or by insurance.

We could be subject to personal injury or real property damage claims in the normal operation of our business. Such claims may not be covered under the
indemnification provisions in our master service agreements to the extent that the damage was due to our or our subcontractors’ negligence, gross negligence or
intentional misconduct.

Although we maintain what we believe is prudent insurance protection, we do not carry insurance against some of the risks that we could experience,
including business interruptions resulting from equipment losses or weather delays, and the insurance which we do maintain might not be sufficient or adequate to
cover all losses or liabilities. We obtain insurance against certain property and personal casualty and other risks when such insurance is available and when our
management considers it advisable to do so. Such coverage is not always available or applicable and, when available, is subject to unilateral cancellation by the
insuring companies on very short notice. Liabilities for which we are not insured, or which exceed the policy limits of our applicable insurance, could have a
materially adverse effect on our results of operations.

We may be held liable for the actions of our subcontractors.

We often work as the general contractor on seismic data acquisition surveys and consequently engage a number of subcontractors to perform services and
provide products. While we obtain contractual indemnification and insurance covering the acts of these subcontractors and require the subcontractors to obtain
insurance for our benefit, we could be held liable for the actions of these subcontractors. In addition, subcontractors may cause injury to our personnel or damage
to our property that is not fully covered by insurance.

Our industry is subject to governmental regulation which may adversely affect our future operations.

Our operations are subject to a variety of federal, state and local laws and regulations, including laws and regulations relating to protection of the
environment and archeological sites. We are required to expend financial and managerial resources to comply with such laws and related permit requirements in
our operations, and we anticipate that we will continue to be required to do so in the future. The fact that such laws or regulations change frequently makes it
impossible for us to predict the cost or impact of such laws and regulations on our future operations. The adoption of laws and regulations that have the effect of
reducing or curtailing exploration and
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production activities by energy companies could also adversely affect our results of operations by reducing the demand for our services. In particular, laws and
regulations concerning climate change or regulating hydraulic fracturing could adversely affect our operations and reduce demand for seismic services.

Current and future legislation or regulation relating to climate change or hydraulic fracturing could negatively affect the exploration and production of
oil and gas and adversely affect demand for our services.

In response to concerns suggesting that emissions of certain gases, commonly referred to as “greenhouse gases” (GHG) (including carbon dioxide and
methane) may be contributing to global climate change, legislative and regulatory measures to address the concerns are in various phases of discussion or
implementation at the national and state levels. At least one-third of the states, either individually or through multi-state regional initiatives, have already taken
legal measures intended to reduce GHG emissions, primarily through the planned development of GHG emission inventories and/or GHG cap and trade
programs.

Although various climate change legislative measures have been under consideration by the U.S. Congress, it is not possible at this time to predict whether
or when Congress may act on climate change legislation. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) has promulgated a series of rulemakings and
taken other actions that the EPA states will result in the regulation of GHG as “air pollutants” under the existing federal Clean Air Act. Furthermore, in 2010, EPA
regulations became effective that require monitoring and reporting of GHG emissions on an annual basis, including extensive GHG monitoring and reporting
requirements. While this new rule does not control GHG emission levels from any facilities, it will cause covered facilities to incur monitoring and reporting
costs. Moreover, lawsuits have been filed seeking to require individual companies to reduce GHG emissions from their operations. These and other lawsuits
relating to GHG emissions may result in decisions by state and federal courts and agencies that could impact our operations.

This increasing governmental focus on global warming may result in new environmental laws or regulations that may negatively affect us, our suppliers
and our customers. This could cause us to incur additional direct costs in complying with any new environmental regulations, as well as increased indirect costs
resulting from our customers, suppliers or both incurring additional compliance costs that get passed on to us. Moreover, passage of climate change legislation or
other federal or state legislative or regulatory initiatives that regulate or restrict emissions of GHG may curtail production and demand for fossil fuels such as oil
and gas in areas where our customers operate and thus adversely affect future demand for our services. Reductions in our revenues or increases in our expenses as
a result of climate control initiatives could have adverse effects on our business, financial position, results of operations and prospects.

Hydraulic fracturing is an important and commonly used process in the completion of oil and gas wells. Hydraulic fracturing involves the injection of
water, sand and chemical additives under pressure into rock formations to stimulate gas production. Due to public concerns raised regarding potential impacts of
hydraulic fracturing on groundwater quality, legislative and regulatory efforts at the federal level and in some states have been initiated to require or make more
stringent the permitting and compliance requirements for hydraulic fracturing operations. At the federal level, a bill was introduced in Congress in March 2011
entitled, the “Fracturing Responsibility and Awareness of Chemicals Act,” or the “FRAC Act,” that would amend the federal Safe Drinking Water Act, or the
“SDWA,” to repeal an exemption from regulation for hydraulic fracturing. If the FRAC Act or similar legislation in the next Congress were enacted, the
definition of “underground injection” in the SDWA would be amended to encompass hydraulic fracturing activities. Such a provision could require hydraulic
fracturing operations to meet permitting and financial assurance requirements, adhere to certain construction specifications, fulfill monitoring, reporting, and
recordkeeping obligations and meet plugging and abandonment requirements. The FRAC Act also proposes to require the reporting and public disclosure of
chemicals used in the fracturing process, which could make it easier for third parties opposing the hydraulic fracturing process to initiate legal proceedings based
on allegations that specific chemicals used in the fracturing process could adversely affect groundwater. In early 2010, the EPA indicated in a website posting that
it intended to regulate hydraulic fracturing under the SDWA and require permitting for any well where hydraulic fracturing was conducted with the use of diesel
as an additive. While industry groups have challenged the EPA’s website
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posting as improper rulemaking, the Agency’s position, if upheld, could require additional permitting. In addition, the EPA has commenced a study of the
potential adverse effects that hydraulic fracturing may have on water quality and public health, and a committee of the U.S. House of Representatives has
commenced its own investigation into hydraulic fracturing practices. These legislative and regulatory initiatives imposing additional reporting obligations on, or
otherwise limiting, the hydraulic fracturing process could make it more difficult or costly to complete natural gas wells. Shale gas cannot be economically
produced without extensive fracturing. In the event such legislation is enacted, demand for our seismic acquisition services may be adversely affected.

We are subject to Canadian foreign currency exchange rate risk.

We have recently begun to operate in Canada. Conducting business in Canada subjects us to foreign currency exchange rate risk. We do not hold or issue
foreign currency forward contracts, option contracts or other derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes or to mitigate the currency exchange rate
risk. If our operations in Canada are successful and the amount of business we do there grows, our results of operations and our cash flows could be impacted by
changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

Certain provisions of our charter and bylaws and our shareholder rights plan may make it difficult for a third party to acquire us, even in situations that
may be viewed as desirable by shareholders.

Our articles of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that authorize the issuance of preferred stock and establish advance notice requirements for
director nominations and actions to be taken at shareholder meetings. These provisions could discourage or impede a tender offer, proxy contest or other similar
transaction involving control of the Company, even in situations that may be viewed as desirable by our shareholders. In addition, we have adopted a shareholder
rights plan that would likely discourage a hostile attempt to acquire control of the Company.

Failure to maintain effective internal controls in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have a material adverse effect on our stock
price.

If, in the future, we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, as such standards are modified, supplemented or amended from time to time, we
may not be able to ensure that we can conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal controls over financial reporting in accordance with
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Failure to achieve and maintain an effective internal control environment could have a material adverse effect on the price
of our common stock.

Item 1B.    UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

Item 2.    PROPERTIES

Our principal facilities are summarized in the table below.
 

Location   
Owned or

Leased    Purpose   
Building Area
Square Feet  

Midland, TX    Leased    Executive offices and data processing    29,960  
Midland, TX    Owned    Field office    61,402  

    Equipment fabrication facility   
    Maintenance and repairs shop   

We have operating leases for domestic office space in Midland, Houston, Denver, Oklahoma City and Pittsburgh and foreign office space in Calgary,
Canada.

Our operations are limited to one industry segment in the United States and Canada. We believe that our existing facilities are being appropriately utilized
in line with past experience and are well maintained, suitable for their intended use and adequate to meet our current and future operating requirements.
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Item 3.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are a party to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. Although we cannot predict the outcomes of any
such legal proceedings, our management believes that the resolution of pending legal actions will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations or liquidity.

For a discussion of certain contingencies affecting the Company, please refer to Note 13, “Commitments and Contingencies” to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included herein, which is incorporated by reference herein.

Part II

Item 5.    MARKET FOR OUR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Our common stock trades on the Nasdaq Stock Market  under the symbol “DWSN.” The table below represents the high and low sales prices per share for
the period shown.
 

Quarter Ended   High    Low  
December 31, 2010   $31.90    $24.16  
March 31, 2011   $50.81    $30.50  
June 30, 2011   $47.02    $29.53  
September 30, 2011   $42.23    $22.25  
December 31, 2011   $40.18    $21.57  
March 31, 2012   $40.76    $32.92  
June 30, 2012   $34.57    $20.29  
September 30, 2012   $26.31    $20.20  

As of November 23, 2012, the market price for our common stock was $22.64 per share, and we had 154 common stockholders of record, as reported by
our transfer agent.

We have not paid cash dividends on our common stock since becoming a public company and have no plans to do so in the foreseeable future.

The following table summarizes certain information regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plan as of September 30,
2012. See information regarding material features of the plan in Note 7, “Stock-Based Compensation” to the Consolidated Financial Statements included herein.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
 

Plan Category   

Number of
Securities to

be Issued
Upon Exercise
of Outstanding

Options    

Weighted-
Average Exercise

Price of
Outstanding

Options    

Number of
Securities Remaining

Available for
Future Issuance

Under the Equity
Compensation Plan

(Excluding Securities
Reflected in
Column (a))  

   (a)    (b)    (c)  
Equity compensation plan approved by security

holders    125,550    $ 18.91     352,497  
Equity compensation plans not approved by

security holders    —     —     —  
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total    125,550    $ 18.91     352,497  
    

 

    

 

    

 

 
15

®



Table of Contents

Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative 5-year total return attained by shareholders on the Company’s common stock relative to the cumulative total
returns of the S&P 500 index and the PHLX Oil Service Sector index. An investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been made
in our common stock and in each of the indexes on 9/30/2007, and its relative performance is tracked through 9/30/2012.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,” and the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data.”
 

Years Ended September 30,   2012    2011   2010   2009    2008  
   (In thousands, except per share amounts)  
Operating revenues   $319,274    $333,279   $205,272   $243,995    $324,926  
Net income (loss) (1)   $ 11,113    $ (3,246)  $ (9,352)  $ 10,222    $ 35,007  
Basic income (loss) per common share   $ 1.42    $ (0.42)  $ (1.20)  $ 1.31    $ 4.57  
Weighted average equivalent common shares outstanding    7,842     7,810    7,777    7,807     7,669  
Total assets   $279,175    $264,824   $235,076   $237,157    $233,621  
Revolving line of credit   $ —    $ —   $ —   $ —    $ —  
Current maturities of notes payable and obligations under

capital leases   $ 9,131    $ 5,290   $ —   $ —    $ —  
Notes payable and obligations under capital leases less

current maturities   $ 11,179    $ 10,281   $ —   $ —    $ —  
Stockholders’ equity   $200,949    $188,163   $190,225   $198,379    $185,960  

 
(1) Net loss for the year ended September 30, 2011 includes $3,866,000 of transaction costs associated with the terminated transaction with TGC Industries,

Inc. (“TGC”).
 
Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and
notes to those statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Please
see “Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a leading provider of onshore seismic data acquisition services in the lower 48 states of the United States. Substantially all of our revenues are
derived from the seismic data acquisition services we provide to our clients, mainly domestic oil and natural gas companies. Demand for our services depends
upon the level of spending by these companies for exploration, production, development and field management activities, which depends, in part, on oil and
natural gas prices. Significant fluctuations in domestic oil and natural gas exploration activities and commodity prices have affected the demand for our services
and our results of operations in years past, and such fluctuations continue to be the single most important factor affecting our business and results of operations.

After a severe contraction in demand for our services beginning at the end of 2008 and continuing into 2010 due to the global economic slowdown, we
began to experience an increase in demand for our services, particularly in the oil and liquids-rich basins. Demand for our services continued to strengthen
through fiscal 2011 and 2012. In response to this demand increase, we redeployed three seismic data acquisition crews in fiscal 2010 and two seismic data
acquisition crews in fiscal 2011, bringing our current crew count to fourteen crews. Our order book is currently at its highest level since late fiscal 2008 in terms
of the client mix, size of projects and geographical diversity, and the majority of the projects are in oil and liquids-rich basins. Although our clients
 

17



Table of Contents

may cancel, delay or alter their service contracts on short notice and we continue to remain subject to land access permit and weather delays, our current order
book reflects commitment levels sufficient to maintain operation of fourteen crews well into fiscal 2013. The majority of our crews are currently working in oil
producing basins. However, in recent years, we have experienced periods in which the services we provided were primarily to clients seeking natural gas.

While our revenues are mainly affected by the level of client demand for our services, our revenues are also affected by the pricing for our services that we
negotiate with our clients and the productivity and utilization level of our data acquisition crews. Factors impacting productivity and utilization levels include
crew downtime related to inclement weather, delays in acquiring land access permits, agricultural or hunting activity, holiday schedules, short winter days, crew
repositioning or equipment failure, whether we enter into turnkey or term contracts with our clients, the number and size of crews and the number of recording
channels per crew. To the extent we experience these factors our operating results may be affected from quarter to quarter. Consequently, our efforts to negotiate
favorable contract terms in our supplemental service agreements, to mitigate permit access delays and to improve overall crew productivity may contribute to
growth in our revenues. As demand for our services continues to be robust, we were able to negotiate more favorable contract terms during fiscal 2012.

We experienced lower utilization rates during the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2012 as our crews were affected by project preparation, weather delays,
agricultural activity, land access permit issues and client delays. Our utilization rates were also affected by increasing crew efficiencies driven by improved crew
processes and recent equipment purchases. In several instances during the second and third fiscal quarters of 2012, our data acquisition crews completed projects
ahead of schedule and were idled as other projects were in preparatory and/or permitting phases. While these early project completions have a negative impact on
utilization during a particular quarter, we believe the increasing efficiency of our crews may enable us to increase our overall capacity. We believe that the
problems that led to lower utilization rates during the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2012 have been resolved. We returned to full crew utilization during the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, and such full utilization has continued into the first quarter of fiscal 2013.

Currently, most of our client contracts are turnkey contracts. The percentage of revenues derived from turnkey contracts has grown in the past few years
from approximately half of our revenues in fiscal 2008 to in excess of three-quarters of our revenues in fiscal 2012. While turnkey contracts allow us to capitalize
on improved crew productivity, we also bear more risks related to weather and crew downtime. We expect the percentage of turnkey contracts to remain high as
we continue to expand our operations in the mid-continent, western and southwestern regions of the United States in which turnkey contracts are more common.
However, in the first quarter of fiscal 2013 we have observed an increase in inquiries and requests for term contracts.

Over time, we have experienced continued increases in recording channel capacity on a per crew or project basis. This increase in channel count demand is
driven by client needs and is necessary in order to produce higher resolution images, increase crew efficiencies and undertake larger scale projects. Due to the
increase in demand for higher channel counts, we have continued our investments in additional channels. In response to project-based channel requirements, we
routinely deploy a variable number of channels on a variable number of crews in an effort to maximize asset utilization and meet client needs. We believe we will
realize the benefit of increased channel counts and flexibility of deployment through increased crew efficiencies, higher revenues and margins.

Reimbursable third-party charges related to our use of helicopter support services, specialized survey technologies and dynamite energy sources in areas
with limited access are another important factor affecting our results. During fiscal 2011, the level of these third-party charges as a percentage of revenue was
especially high, approaching 50% of revenue, mainly as a result of our continued operations in areas with limited access in the eastern United States. However,
revenues associated with third-party charges declined as a percentage of revenue during fiscal 2012 as a result of such third-party charges returning to levels more
consistent with our historical average. We expect that as we continue to expand our operations in the more open terrain of the mid-continent, western and
southwestern regions of the United States, the level of these third-party charges will continue to be generally within our historical range of 25% to 35% of
revenue.
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During fiscal 2011, we purchased 25,850 Geospace Technologies GSR single-channel units, 2,000 Geospace Technologies GSR four-channel units with
three-component geophones and ten INOVA AHV IV 364 vibrator energy source units. These additions allowed us to deploy the two additional crews added in
fiscal 2011 with state-of-the-art cable-less recording equipment. During the first quarter of fiscal 2012, we began operations on a large project in West Texas
utilizing the FairfieldNodal ZLand cable-less recording system. We completed the FairfieldNodal ZLand project during the third quarter of fiscal 2012. The
ZLand-equipped crew was redeployed in the late third quarter of fiscal 2012 equipped with an ARAM cable-based recording system. As a result of the
introduction of the cable-less recording systems, we have realized increased crew efficiencies and increased revenue on projects using this equipment. We believe
we will experience continued demand for cable-less recording systems in the future. During fiscal 2012, we purchased an additional 10,500 Geospace
Technologies GSR single-channel units, 3,000 stations of Geospace Technologies GSR three-channel units with three component geophones and nineteen INOVA
AHV IV 364 vibrator energy source units. As we have replaced cable-based recording equipment with cable-less equipment on certain crews, the cable-based
recording equipment continues to be redeployed on existing crews as needed, including on the additional two crews fielded during the second quarter of fiscal
2011. Of the fourteen crews currently in operation, five use Geospace Technologies GSR recording systems, six use ARAM cable-based recording systems, and
three use I/O RSR recording systems.

During 2012, we entered into the Canadian market. This market is highly seasonal and operates primarily from late November through March, depending
upon weather conditions. We anticipate operating one data acquisition crew in Canada during the 2012–2013 winter season, and do not expect these operations to
have a significant impact on our fiscal 2013 financial results.

While the markets for oil and natural gas have been very volatile and are likely to continue to be so in the future, and we can make no assurances as to
future levels of domestic exploration or commodity prices, we believe opportunities exist for us to enhance our market position by responding to our clients’
continuing desire for higher resolution subsurface images. If economic conditions were to weaken, our customers reduce their capital expenditures or there is a
significant sustained drop in oil and natural gas prices, it would result in diminished demand for our seismic services, could cause continued downward pressure
on the prices we charge and would affect our results of operations.

Fiscal 2012 Highlights
 

 
•  EBITDA for the year-ended September 30, 2012 increased to $49,615,000 compared to $27,861,000 for the same period of fiscal 2011, an increase of

78 percent;
 

 
•  Net income for the year-ended September 30, 2012 increased to $11,113,000, or $1.42 earnings per share, compared to a net loss of $3,246,000, or $0.42

loss per share, in fiscal 2011;
 

 •  Reported revenues of $319,274,000 for the year-ended September 30, 2012 compared to $333,279,000 for the year-ended September 30, 2011;
 

 •  Revenues net of third-party reimbursable charges increased 13 percent in fiscal 2012 from fiscal 2011;
 

 •  Strengthened order book capable of sustaining fourteen data acquisition crews well into calendar 2013;
 

 •  Fiscal 2012 capital expenditures of approximately $47,664,000 compared to $59,380,000 in fiscal 2011;
 

 
•  Purchased 10,500 single-channel Geospace GSR units, 3,000 GSR three-channel units with three component geophones and 19 INOVA vibrator energy

source units to increase recording capacity and improve efficiency;
 

 •  Balanced portfolio of projects in the Eagle Ford Shale, Niobrara Shale, Bakken Shale, Marcellus Shale, Permian Basin and Mississippi Lime;
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 •  Approximately $78 million of working capital at September 30, 2012; and
 

 •  Awarded first contract in Canada for the deployment of the Company’s first Canadian data acquisition crew during the 2012-2013 winter season.

Results of Operations

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2012 versus Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011

Operating Revenues. Our operating revenues decreased 4% to $319,274,000 in fiscal 2012 from $333,279,000 in fiscal 2011. The revenue decrease in
fiscal 2012 was primarily the result of a significant decrease in third-party charges and is not indicative of declining operations. Third-party charges decreased
29% in fiscal 2012 from fiscal 2011 due to continued operations in the more wide open terrain of the Western United States while fee revenue net of third-party
charges for fiscal 2012 increased 13% from fiscal 2011. The increase in revenues net of third party charges is a result of increased utilization, production and
more favorable contract terms in 2012 as compared to 2011.

Operating Costs. Our operating expenses decreased 11% to $258,970,000 in fiscal 2012 from $292,519,000 in fiscal 2011 primarily due to the decrease in
reimbursed charges. As discussed above, third-party charges decreased 29% in fiscal 2012 from fiscal 2011. Operating expenses excluding third-party charges in
fiscal 2012 increased 4% from fiscal 2011. This increase resulted primarily from increased field personnel and other expenses associated with higher utilization in
2012 as compared to 2011. The increase in revenues net of third-party charges of 13% in fiscal 2012 at the same time operating costs excluding third-party
charges increased only 4%, resulted in an overall improvement in the Company’s margins during fiscal 2012. Improved turnkey rates, increased productivity,
reduced third-party charges and reduced equipment rental and repair costs all contributed to this improvement in margins.

General and administrative expenses were 3.5% of revenues in fiscal 2012 as compared to 4.1% of revenues in fiscal 2011. General and administrative
expenses decreased by $2,345,000 in fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011. The primary factor for the decrease in general and administrative expenses was the
absence during fiscal 2012 of fiscal 2011 transaction costs of $3,866,000 associated with the terminated merger agreement with TGC. Without the effect of the
2011 transaction costs, general and administrative expense increased by $1,521,000. The increase in administrative expense was primarily due to increased
employee costs to support expanded field operations and start-up costs associated with our Canadian operations.

We recognized $32,498,000 of depreciation expense in fiscal 2012 as compared to $30,536,000 in fiscal 2011. Depreciation expense increased 6.4% from
fiscal 2011 to 2012 reflecting increased capital expenditures during fiscal 2011 and 2012. Our depreciation expense is expected to continue to increase in fiscal
2013 as a result of our significant capital expenditures in fiscal 2012.

Our total operating costs for fiscal 2012 were $302,673,000, a decrease of 10% from fiscal 2011 primarily due to the factors described above.

Income Taxes. Income tax expense was $5,403,000 for fiscal 2012 and $439,000 for fiscal 2011. The effective tax rates for the income tax provision for
fiscal 2012 and 2011 were 32.7% and (15.6%), respectively. Our effective tax rate was reduced significantly in fiscal 2011 by transaction costs that had been
treated as permanent, non-deductible expenses. In fiscal 2012, these costs became fully tax deductible upon the merger’s termination in October 2011 and were
treated as a discrete event in the first quarter of fiscal 2012, which resulted in an income tax benefit. Our effective tax rates differ from the statutory federal rate of
35% for certain items such as foreign operations, state and local taxes, non-deductible expenses, discrete items, expenses related to share-based compensation that
were not expected to result in a tax deduction and changes in reserves for uncertain tax positions.
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Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011 versus Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2010

Operating Revenues. Our operating revenues increased 62% to $333,279,000 in fiscal 2011 from $205,272,000 in fiscal 2010. The revenue increase in
fiscal 2011 was primarily the result of an increase in active crew count during fiscal 2011 and higher utilization rates of the existing crews. Revenues in fiscal
2011 continued to include high third-party charges related to the use of helicopter support services, specialized survey technologies and dynamite energy sources.
Approximately one-half of the increase in revenues during 2011 was due to the increase in these third-party charges. The sustained high level of these charges is
driven by our continued operations in areas with limited access in the Appalachian Basin, Oklahoma, East Texas and Arkansas.

Operating Costs. Our operating expenses increased 58% to $292,519,000 in fiscal 2011 from $185,588,000 in fiscal 2010 primarily due to increases in
field personnel and other expenses associated with operating the additional data acquisition crews put into service during fiscal 2010 and 2011. As discussed
above, reimbursed charges have a similar impact on operating costs.

General and administrative expenses were 4.1% of revenues in fiscal 2011 as compared to 3.5% of revenues in fiscal 2010. General and administrative
expenses increased by $6,419,000 in fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010. The primary factors for the increase in general and administrative expenses during
fiscal 2011 were increased administrative costs, primarily related to employee costs as a result of our increased crew count and operational activity, and
transaction costs of $3,866,000 associated with the terminated merger agreement with TGC. There was no termination fee associated with the termination of the
TGC merger agreement.

We recognized $30,536,000 of depreciation expense in fiscal 2011 as compared to $27,126,000 in fiscal 2010. Depreciation expense increased 13% from
fiscal 2010 to 2011 reflecting increased capital expenditures during fiscal 2010 and 2011.

Our total operating costs for fiscal 2011 were $336,605,000, an increase of 53% from fiscal 2010 primarily due to the factors described above.

Income Taxes. Income tax expense was $439,000 for fiscal 2011 as compared to income tax benefit of $4,638,000 for fiscal 2010. The effective tax rates
for the income tax provision for fiscal 2011 and 2010 were (15.6%) and 33.2%, respectively. Our effective tax rates differ from the statutory federal rate of 35%
for certain items such as state and local taxes, non-deductible expenses, expenses related to share-based compensation that were not expected to result in a tax
deduction and changes in reserves for uncertain tax positions. Our fiscal 2011 effective tax rate was significantly impacted by the acquisition transaction costs
incurred related to the terminated transaction with TGC. During fiscal 2011, we made the policy decision to treat the transaction costs as permanent non-
deductible expenses for tax purposes.

Use of EBITDA (Non-GAAP measure)

We define EBITDA as net income (loss) plus interest expense, interest income, income taxes, depreciation and amortization expense. Our management
uses EBITDA as a supplemental financial measure to assess:
 

 •  the financial performance of our assets without regard to financing methods, capital structures, taxes or historical cost basis;
 

 
•  our liquidity and operating performance over time in relation to other companies that own similar assets and that we believe calculate EBITDA in a

similar manner; and
 

 •  the ability of our assets to generate cash sufficient for us to pay potential interest costs.

We also understand that such data are used by investors to assess our performance. However, the term EBITDA is not defined under generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”), and EBITDA is not a measure
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of operating income, operating performance or liquidity presented in accordance with GAAP. When assessing our operating performance or liquidity, investors
and others should not consider this data in isolation or as a substitute for net income (loss), cash flow from operating activities or other cash flow data calculated
in accordance with GAAP. In addition, our EBITDA may not be comparable to EBITDA or similarly titled measures utilized by other companies since such other
companies may not calculate EBITDA in the same manner as us. Further, the results presented by EBITDA cannot be achieved without incurring the costs that
the measure excludes: interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.

The reconciliation of our EBITDA to our net income (loss) and net cash provided by operating activities, which are the most directly comparable GAAP
financial measures, are provided in the tables below:

Reconciliation of EBITDA to Net Income (Loss)
 

   Years Ended September 30,  
   2012    2011   2010  
   (in thousands)  
Net income (loss)   $ 11,113    $ (3,246)  $ (9,352) 
Depreciation    32,498     30,536    27,126  
Interest expense (income), net    601     132    —  
Income tax expense (benefit)    5,403     439    (4,638) 

    
 

    
 

   
 

EBITDA   $49,615    $27,861   $13,136  
    

 

    

 

   

 

Reconciliation of EBITDA to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
 

   Years Ended September 30,  
   2012   2011   2010  
   (in thousands)  
Net cash provided by operating activities   $ 76,380   $16,951   $ 6,244  
Changes in working capital and other items    (24,949)   12,812    8,731  
Noncash adjustments to income    (1,816)   (1,902)   (1,839) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

EBITDA   $ 49,615   $27,861   $13,136  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Introduction. Our principal sources of cash are amounts earned from the seismic data acquisition services we provide to our clients. Our principal uses of
cash are the amounts used to provide these services, including expenses related to our operations and acquiring new equipment. Accordingly, our cash position
depends (as do our revenues) on the level of demand for our services. Historically, cash generated from our operations along with cash reserves and borrowings
from commercial banks have been sufficient to fund our working capital requirements, and to some extent, our capital expenditures.

Cash Flows. Net cash provided by operating activities was $76,380,000 for fiscal 2012 and $16,951,000 for fiscal 2011. These amounts primarily reflect an
increase in revenues and operating margins between periods. Our cash provided by operations was further positively impacted by cash collected from prior
periods. Our collection experience during the period expressed as an average number of days in accounts receivable has remained at approximately sixty over the
last twelve months. Amounts in our trade accounts receivable that are over sixty days as of September 30, 2012 represents approximately 20% of our total trade
accounts receivables, which is consistent with historical levels. We believe our allowance for doubtful accounts of $250,000 at September 30, 2012 is adequate to
cover exposures related to our trade account balances.
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Net cash used in investing activities was $48,580,000 in fiscal 2012 and $36,417,000 in fiscal 2011. In fiscal 2012, we funded our capital expenditures
primarily from cash provided by operating activities of $76,380,000 as well as proceeds of $9,346,000 from the Second Term Note used to purchase Geospace
Technologies GSR recording equipment. In 2011, we funded our capital expenditures primarily from $22,500,000 in cash generated from matured short-term
investments and $16,427,000 in proceeds from the Term Note used to purchase Geospace Technologies GSR recording equipment as well as $16,951,000 of cash
provided by operating activities. In fiscal 2012 and 2011, we invested excess funds of $4,500,000 and $2,500,000 respectively in certificates of deposit. In fiscal
2011, we collected proceeds from an insurance claim on our equipment burned in an October 2010 wildfire of $1,392,000.

Net cash provided by financing activities in fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 was $3,496,000 and $15,868,000, respectively. In fiscal 2012, our primary source of
net cash provided by financing activities was $9,346,000 in proceeds from our Second Term Note that were used to purchase Geospace Technologies GSR
recording equipment and subsequent principal payments for both the Term Note and Second Term Note. In fiscal 2011, our primary source of net cash provided
by financing activities were the proceeds and subsequent principal payments for the $16,427,000 Term Note we entered into in order to purchase Geospace
Technologies GSR recording equipment.

Capital Expenditures. For fiscal year 2012, we made capital expenditures of $47,664,000, primarily to purchase 10,500 Geospace Technologies GSR
single-channel units, 3,000 Geospace Technologies GSR three-channel units, additional geophones, nineteen INOVA AHV IV 364 vibrator energy sources units
and meet necessary maintenance capital requirements. These purchases reflect our belief that the trend towards increased channel counts and energy sources in
our industry will continue. Our Board of Directors has approved an initial fiscal 2013 capital budget of $40,000,000, which will be used, in part, to purchase nine
INOVA AHV IV 364 vibrator energy source units, while the remainder will be used to increase channel count, make technical improvements in various phases of
our operations and meet maintenance capital requirements. We believe that our fiscal 2012 capital investments as well as our planned fiscal 2013 capital
investments will allow us to maintain our competitive position as we respond to client desire for higher resolution subsurface images.

We continually strive to supply our clients with technologically advanced 3-D data acquisition recording services and data processing capabilities. We
maintain equipment in and out of service in anticipation of increased future demand for our services.

Capital Resources. Historically, we have primarily relied on cash generated from operations, cash reserves and borrowings from commercial banks to fund
our working capital requirements and, to some extent, our capital expenditures. Recently, we have funded some of our capital expenditures through equipment
term loans and capital leases. We have also funded our capital expenditures and other financing needs from time to time through public equity offerings.

Our revolving line of credit loan agreement is with Western National Bank. The agreement was renewed June 2, 2011 under the same terms as the previous
agreement and permits us to borrow, repay and reborrow, from time to time until June 2, 2013, up to $20.0 million based on the borrowing base calculation as
defined in the agreement. Our obligations under this agreement are secured by a security interest in our accounts receivable, equipment and related collateral.
Interest on the facility accrues at an annual rate equal to either the 30-day London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), plus two and one-quarter percent, or the
Prime Rate, minus three-quarters percent, as we direct monthly, subject to an interest rate floor of 4%. Interest on the outstanding amount under the loan
agreement is payable monthly. The loan agreement contains customary covenants for credit facilities of this type, including limitations on disposition of assets,
mergers and reorganizations. We are also obligated to meet certain financial covenants under the loan agreement, including maintaining specified ratios with
respect to cash flow coverage, current assets and liabilities and debt to tangible net worth. We were in compliance with all covenants including specified ratios as
of September 30, 2012 and December 5, 2012 and have the full line of credit available for borrowing. We have not utilized the revolving line of credit during the
fiscal years ended September 30, 2012 or 2011.
 

23



Table of Contents

We amended our credit loan agreement with Western National Bank on June 30, 2011 to add a new term loan note (“Term Note”) provision, which
provided $16,427,000 in financing for the purchase of Geospace Technologies GSR equipment. The Term Note is repayable over a period of 36 months at
$485,444 per month plus any applicable interest. The Term Note bears interest at an annual rate equal to either the 30-day LIBOR, plus two and one-quarter
percent, or the Prime Rate, minus three-quarters percent, as we direct monthly, subject to an interest rate floor of 4%, and otherwise has the same terms as our
revolving line of credit. The Term Note is collateralized by a security interest in our accounts receivable, equipment and related collateral and matures with all
outstanding balances due on June 30, 2014.

On May 11, 2012, we entered into a Multiple Advance Term Note (“Second Term Note”) under our credit loan agreement with Western National Bank. The
Second Term Note allows us to borrow from time to time up to $15.0 million to purchase equipment. On July 5, 2012, we borrowed $9,346,000 under the Second
Term Note to purchase Geospace Technologies GSR recording equipment. The outstanding principal under the Second Term Note will be amortized over 36
months. The Second Term Note bears interest at an annual rate equal to either the 30-day LIBOR, plus two and one-quarter percent, or the Prime Rate, minus
three-quarters percent, as we direct monthly, subject to an interest rate floor of 3.75%, and otherwise has the same terms as our revolving line of credit. The
Second Term Note is collateralized by a security interest in our accounts receivable, equipment and related collateral and matures with all outstanding balances
due on May 2, 2015.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2012, we began leasing vehicles from Enterprise Fleet Management under capital leases. These capital lease obligations are
payable in 36 to 60 monthly installments and mature between December 2014 and February 2017. At September 30, 2012, we had leased 42 vehicles under these
capital leases.

The following table summarizes payments due in specific periods related to our contractual obligations with initial terms exceeding one year as of
September 30, 2012.
 

   Payments Due by Period (in 000’s)  

Contractual Obligations   Total    
Within 1

Year    1-2 Years    
3-

5 Years   
After 5
Years  

Operating lease obligations (office space)   $ 3,288    $ 865    $ 1,720    $ 703    $ —  
Capital lease obligations    1,208     415     689     104     —  
Debt obligations    19,102     8,716     10,386     —     —  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $23,598    $ 9,996    $12,795    $ 807    $ —  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

In April 2012, we filed a shelf registration statement with the SEC covering the periodic offer and sale of up to $150.0 million in debt securities, preferred
and common stock and warrants. The registration statement allows us to sell securities in one or more separate offerings with the size, price and terms to be
determined at the time of sale. The terms of any securities offered would be described in a related prospectus to be filed separately with the SEC at the time of the
offering. The filing of the shelf registration statement will enable us to act quickly if and when opportunities arise.

We believe that our capital resources and cash flow from operations are adequate to meet our current operational needs. We believe we will be able to
finance our capital requirements through cash generated from operations, cash on hand, through borrowings under our revolving line of credit, additional
equipment term loans and capital leases. However, our ability to satisfy our working capital requirements and fund future capital requirements will depend
principally upon our future operating performance, which is subject to the risks inherent in our business, including the demand for our seismic services from
clients.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of September 30, 2012, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements.
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Effect of Inflation

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition during the past three fiscal years.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires us to make certain assumptions and
estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting periods. Because of the use of assumptions and estimates inherent in the reporting process, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We prepare our allowance for doubtful accounts receivable based on our review of past-due accounts, our past
experience of historical write-offs and our current client base. While the collectability of outstanding client invoices is continually assessed, the inherent volatility
of the energy industry’s business cycle can cause swift and unpredictable changes in the financial stability of our clients.

Property, Plant and Equipment. Our property, plant and equipment is capitalized at historical cost and depreciated over the useful life of the asset. Our
estimation of this useful life is based on circumstances that exist in the seismic industry and information available at the time of the purchase of the asset. As
circumstances change and new information becomes available, these estimates could change.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation
are removed from the balance sheet, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in the results of operations for the period.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. We review long-lived assets for impairment when triggering events occur suggesting deterioration in the assets’
recoverability or fair value. Recognition of an impairment charge is required if future expected undiscounted net cash flows are insufficient to recover the
carrying value of the assets and the fair value of the assets is below the carrying value of the assets. Our forecast of future cash flows used to perform impairment
analysis includes estimates of future revenues and expenses based on our anticipated future results while considering anticipated future oil and gas prices, which
is fundamental in assessing demand for our services. If the carrying amounts of the assets exceed the estimated expected undiscounted future cash flows, we
measure the amount of possible impairment by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to its fair value.

Revenue Recognition. Our services are provided under cancelable service contracts. These contracts are either “turnkey” or “term” agreements. Under both
types of agreements, we recognize revenues when revenue is realizable and services are performed. Services are defined as the commencement of data acquisition
or processing operations. Revenues are considered realizable when earned according to the terms of the service contracts. Under turnkey agreements, revenue is
recognized on a per unit of data acquired rate, as services are performed. Under term agreements, revenue is recognized on a per unit of time worked rate, as
services are performed. In the case of a cancelled service contract, we recognize revenue and bill our client for services performed up to the date of cancellation.

We also receive reimbursements for certain out-of-pocket expenses under the terms of our service contracts. We record amounts billed to clients in revenue
at the gross amount including out-of-pocket expenses that are reimbursed by the client.

In some instances, we bill clients in advance of the services performed. In those cases, we recognize the liability as deferred revenue. As services are
performed, those deferred revenue amounts are recognized as revenue.
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When it becomes evident that the estimates of total costs to be incurred on a contract will exceed the total estimates of revenue to be earned, an estimated
contract loss is recognized in the period in which the loss is identifiable.

Stock-Based Compensation. We measure all employee stock-based compensation awards, which include stock options and restricted stock, using the fair
value method and recognize compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, in our financial statements. We record compensation expense as operating or general
and administrative expense as appropriate in the Consolidated Statements of Operations on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the related stock options
or restricted stock awards.

Income Taxes. We account for our income taxes with the recognition of amounts of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and by using an asset
and liability approach in recognizing the amount of deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our
financial statements or tax returns. We determine deferred taxes by identifying the types and amounts of existing temporary differences, measuring the total
deferred tax asset or liability using the applicable tax rate in effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The
effect of a change in tax rates of deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the year of an enacted rate change. The deferred tax asset is reduced
by a valuation allowance if, based on available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Our
methodology for recording income taxes requires judgment regarding assumptions and the use of estimates, including determining our annual effective tax rate
and the valuation of deferred tax assets, which can create a variance between actual results and estimates and could have a material impact on our provision or
benefit for income taxes.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2011-04, “Fair Value Measurement
(Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting
Standards,” to provide a consistent definition of fair value and ensure that the fair value measurement and disclosure requirements are similar between U.S.
GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards. ASU 2011-04 changes certain fair value measurement principles and enhances disclosure requirements,
particularly for Level 3 fair value measurements. The enhanced disclosures and fair value measurement principles were effective for us as of January 1, 2012. The
adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, “Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive Income,” to require an entity to
present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single continuous
statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. ASU 2011-05 eliminates the option to present the components of other
comprehensive income as part of the statement of equity. This update does not change what items are reported in other comprehensive income or the requirement
to report reclassification of items from other comprehensive income to net income. However, in December 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-12,
“Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05,” that deferred the specific requirement within ASU 2011-05 to present on the face of the
financial statements items that are reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to net income separately with their respective components of net
income and other comprehensive net income. Entities should continue to report reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income using guidance
in effect before ASU 2011-05 was issued. ASU 2011-05 will be effective in our first quarter of fiscal 2013, though earlier adoption is permitted. The update will
be applied retrospectively upon adoption, and we believe the adoption will not have a material effect on our financial statements.
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to certain market risks arising from the use of financial instruments in the ordinary course of business. These risks arise primarily as a
result of potential changes to operating concentration of credit risk and changes in interest rates. We have not entered into any hedge arrangements, commodity
swap agreements, commodity futures, options or other derivative financial instruments. During 2012, we began to conduct business in Canada which may subject
our results of operations and cash flow to foreign currency exchange rate risk.

Concentration of Credit Risk. Our principal market risks include fluctuations in commodity prices which affect demand for and pricing of our services and
the risk related to the concentration of our clients in the oil and natural gas industry. Since all of our clients are involved in the oil and natural gas industry, there
may be a positive or negative effect on our exposure to credit risk because our clients may be similarly affected by changes in economic and industry conditions.
As an example, changes to existing regulations or the adoption of new regulations may unfavorably impact us, our suppliers or our clients. In the normal course
of business, we provide credit terms to our clients. Accordingly, we perform ongoing credit evaluations of our clients and maintain allowances for possible losses.
We believe that our allowance for doubtful accounts of $250,000 at September 30, 2012 is adequate to cover exposures related to our trade account balances.

We generally provide services to certain key clients that account for a significant percentage of our accounts receivable at any given time. Our key clients
vary over time. We extend credit to various companies in the oil and natural gas industry, including our key clients, for the acquisition of seismic data, which
results in a concentration of credit risk. This concentration of credit risk may be affected by changes in the economic or other conditions of our key clients and
may accordingly impact our overall credit risk. If any of these significant clients were to terminate their contracts or fail to contract for our services in the future
because they are acquired, alter their exploration or development strategy, or for any other reason, our results of operations could be affected. Because of the
nature of our contracts and clients’ projects, our largest clients can change from year to year, and the largest clients in any year may not be indicative of the largest
clients in any subsequent year.

Interest Rate Risk. We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes on the outstanding indebtedness under our credit loan agreement, which has
variable interest rates. Amounts drawn under the revolving line of credit and equipment term loans bear interest at variable rates based on the lower of the Prime
Rate, minus three-quarters percent, or the 30-day LIBOR, plus a margin of two and one-quarter percent, subject to an interest rate floor of 4% for the Term Note
and the revolving line of credit and an interest rate floor of 3.75% for the Second Term Note. At September 30, 2012, our interest rate was 4% for the Term Note
and the revolving line of credit and 3.75% for the Second Term Note.

We have cash in the bank which, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. Historically, we have not experienced any losses in such accounts; however,
volatility in financial markets may impact our credit risk on cash and short-term investments. At September 30, 2012, cash and cash equivalents totaled
$57,373,000.
 
Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information required by this item appears on pages F-1 through F-22 hereof and are incorporated herein by reference.
 
Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
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Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Management’s Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive and principal financial
officers, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as of
the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Executive Vice President, Secretary
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of September 30, 2012, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective, in all material respects, with regard
to the recording, processing, summarizing and reporting, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, for information required to be disclosed
by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act. Our disclosure controls and procedures include controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our
President and Chief Executive Officer and our Executive Vice President, Secretary and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal control over financial
reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Under the supervision and with the
participation of management, including our President and Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice President, Secretary and Chief Financial Officer, we
evaluated the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of September 30, 2012 using the criteria set forth in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, we have concluded that, as of
September 30, 2012, our internal control over financial reporting was effective. Our internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2012 has been
audited by KPMG LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm who also audited our financial statements. Their attestation report appears on page F-3.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934) during the quarter ended September 30, 2012 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control
over financial reporting.
 
Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
 

28



Table of Contents

Part III
 
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by Item 10 is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on
January 22, 2013, which we expect to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after September 30, 2012. Certain information with
respect to our executive officers is set forth below. We have a code of ethics as defined in Item 406 of Regulation S-K. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
applies to our directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive officer and principal financial and accounting officer. Our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics is posted on our website at http://www.dawson3d.com in the “Corporate Governance” area of the “Investor Relations” section. We intend to
satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of the Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics for our senior financial officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, if any, either by posting such information on our website at
http://www.dawson3d.com in the “Corporate Governance” area of the “Investor Relations” section or by filing a Form 8-K.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Set forth below are the names, ages and positions of the Company’s executive officers.
 

Name   Age   Position
L. Decker Dawson    92    Chairman of the Board of Directors
Stephen C. Jumper    51    President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
C. Ray Tobias    55    Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer
Christina W. Hagan    57    Executive Vice President, Secretary and Chief Financial Officer
James W. Thomas    58    Executive Vice President, Chief Technical Officer
K.S. Forsdick    61    Senior Vice President

The Board of Directors elects executive officers annually. Executive officers hold office until their successors are elected and have qualified.

Set forth below are descriptions of the principal occupations during at least the past five years of the Company’s executive officers.

L. Decker Dawson. Mr. Dawson founded the Company in 1952. He served as President of the Company until being elected as Chairman of the Board of
Directors and Chief Executive Officer in January 2001. In January 2006, Mr. Dawson was reelected as Chairman of the Board of Directors and retired as Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. Prior to 1952, Mr. Dawson was a geophysicist with Republic Exploration Company, a geophysical company. Mr. Dawson
served as President of the Society of Exploration Geophysicists (1989-1990), received its Enterprise Award in 1997 and was awarded honorary membership in
2002. He was Chairman of the Board of Directors of the International Association of Geophysical Contractors in 1981 and is an honorary life member of such
association. He was inducted into the Permian Basin Petroleum Museum’s Hall of Fame in 1997.

Stephen C. Jumper. Mr. Jumper, a geophysicist, joined the Company in 1985, was elected Vice President of Technical Services in September 1997 and was
subsequently elected President, Chief Operating Officer and Director in January 2001. In January 2006, Mr. Jumper was elected President, Chief Executive
Officer and Director. Prior to 1997, Mr. Jumper served the Company as manager of technical services with an emphasis on 3-D processing. Mr. Jumper has served
the Permian Basin Geophysical Society as Second Vice President, First Vice President and as President.
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C. Ray Tobias. Mr. Tobias joined the Company in 1990 and was elected Vice President in September 1997 and Executive Vice President and Director in
January 2001. In January 2006, Mr. Tobias was elected Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Tobias supervises client relationships and
survey cost quotations to clients. He has served on the Board of Directors of the International Association of Geophysical Contractors and served as President of
the Permian Basin Geophysical Society. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Tobias was employed by Geo-Search Corporation where he was an operations
supervisor.

Christina W. Hagan. Ms. Hagan joined the Company in 1988 and was elected Chief Financial Officer and Vice President in 1997 and Senior Vice
President, Secretary and Chief Financial Officer in January 2003. In January 2004, Ms. Hagan was elected as Executive Vice President, Secretary and Chief
Financial Officer. Prior thereto, Ms. Hagan served the Company as Controller and Treasurer. Ms. Hagan is a certified public accountant.

James W. Thomas. Mr. Thomas joined the Company in 2002 as Chief Geophysicist. Mr. Thomas was elected Vice President of Data Processing in March
2007 and Chief Technical Officer in January 2012. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Thomas was employed for 21 years by Phillips Petroleum Company.

K.S. Forsdick. Mr. Forsdick joined the Company in 1993, was elected Vice President in January 2001 and was subsequently elected Senior Vice President
in March 2009. Mr. Forsdick is responsible for soliciting, designing and bidding seismic surveys for prospective clients. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Forsdick was employed by Grant Geophysical Company and Western Geophysical Company and was responsible for marketing and managing land and
marine seismic surveys for domestic and international operations. He has served on the Governmental Affairs Committee of the International Association of
Geophysical Contractors.
 
Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on
January 22, 2013, which we expect to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after September 30, 2012.
 
Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required with respect to our equity compensation plans is set forth in Item 5 of this Form 10-K. Other information required by Item 12 is
incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on January 22, 2013, which we expect to file with
the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after September 30, 2012.
 
Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on
January 22, 2013, which we expect to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after September 30, 2012.
 
Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on
January 22, 2013, which we expect to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after September 30, 2012.
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Part IV
 
Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

(1) Financial Statements.

The following consolidated financial statements of the Company appear on pages F-1 through F-21 and are incorporated by reference into Part II,
Item 8:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Financial Statement Schedules.

The following financial statement schedule appears on page F-22 and is hereby incorporated by reference:

Schedule II — Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the three years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

All other schedules are omitted because they are either not applicable or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits.

The information required by this item 15(a)(3) is set forth in the Index to Exhibits accompanying this Annual Report of Form 10-K and is hereby
incorporated by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Midland, and the State of Texas, on the 5  day of December, 2012.
 

DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY

By:  /s/    Stephen C. Jumper
 Stephen C. Jumper
 President and Chief
 Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature   Title  Date

/s/ L. Decker Dawson
L. Decker Dawson   

Chairman of the Board of Directors
 

12-5-12

/s/ Stephen C. Jumper
Stephen C. Jumper   

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(principal executive officer)  

12-5-12

/s/ Paul H. Brown
Paul H. Brown   

Director
 

12-5-12

/s/ Craig W. Cooper
Craig W. Cooper   

Director
 

12-5-12

/s/ Gary M. Hoover
Gary M. Hoover   

Director
 

12-5-12

/s/ Jack D. Ladd
Jack D. Ladd   

Director
 

12-5-12

/s/ Ted R. North
Ted R. North   

Director
 

12-5-12

/s/ Tim C. Thompson
Tim C. Thompson   

Director
 

12-5-12

/s/ Christina W. Hagan
Christina W. Hagan

  

Executive Vice President, Secretary and Chief
Financial Officer (principal financial and

accounting officer)  

12-5-12
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Dawson Geophysical Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Dawson Geophysical Company as of September 30, 2012 and 2011, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and other comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended September 30, 2012. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited financial statement Schedule II. These
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Dawson Geophysical
Company as of September 30, 2012 and 2011, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
September 30, 2012, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Dawson
Geophysical Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated December 5, 2012 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of Dawson Geophysical Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
December 5, 2012
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Dawson Geophysical Company:

We have audited Dawson Geophysical Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2012, based on “criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO)”. Dawson Geophysical
Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Dawson Geophysical Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of September 30,
2012, based on “criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission”.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance
sheets of Dawson Geophysical Company as of September 30, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and
other comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended September 30, 2012, and the related financial statement
schedule, and our report dated December 5, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule.

KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
December 5, 2012
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DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 

   
September 30,

2012   
September 30,

2011  
ASSETS   

Current assets:    
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 57,373,000   $ 26,077,000  
Short-term investments    4,000,000    —  
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $250,000 and $155,000 at September 30, 2012

and September 30, 2011, respectively    53,719,000    86,716,000  
Prepaid expenses and other assets    762,000    4,254,000  
Current deferred tax asset    1,925,000    1,236,000  

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    117,779,000    118,283,000  

Property, plant and equipment    326,030,000    302,647,000  
Less accumulated depreciation    (164,634,000)   (156,106,000) 

    
 

   
 

Net property, plant and equipment    161,396,000    146,541,000  
    

 
   

 

Total assets   $ 279,175,000   $ 264,824,000  
    

 

   

 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable   $ 18,544,000   $ 18,732,000  
Accrued liabilities:    

Payroll costs and other taxes    1,802,000    1,436,000  
Other    6,425,000    9,230,000  

Deferred revenue    3,467,000    9,616,000  
Current maturities of notes payable and obligations under capital leases    9,131,000    5,290,000  

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    39,369,000    44,304,000  

Long-term liabilities:    
Notes payable and obligations under capital leases less current maturities    11,179,000    10,281,000  
Deferred tax liability    27,678,000    22,076,000  

    
 

   
 

Total long-term liabilities    38,857,000    32,357,000  

Stockholders’ equity:    
Preferred stock-par value $1.00 per share;

5,000,000 shares authorized, none outstanding    —    —  
Common stock-par value $.33 1/3 per share;

50,000,000 shares authorized, 8,031,369 and 7,910,885 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2012
and September 30, 2011, respectively    2,677,000    2,637,000  

Additional paid-in capital    93,224,000    91,591,000  
Retained earnings    105,048,000    93,935,000  

    
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity    200,949,000    188,163,000  
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 279,175,000   $ 264,824,000  
    

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
 
   Years Ended September 30,  
   2012   2011   2010  
Operating revenues   $ 319,274,000   $ 333,279,000   $ 205,272,000  
Operating costs:     

Operating expenses    258,970,000    292,519,000    185,588,000  
General and administrative    11,205,000    13,550,000    7,131,000  
Depreciation    32,498,000    30,536,000    27,126,000  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   302,673,000    336,605,000    219,845,000  
Income (loss) from operations    16,601,000    (3,326,000)   (14,573,000) 
Other income (expense):     

Interest income    28,000    35,000    185,000  
Interest expense    (629,000)   (167,000)   —  
Other income    516,000    651,000    398,000  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Income (loss) before income tax    16,516,000    (2,807,000)   (13,990,000) 
Income tax (expense) benefit:     

Current    (490,000)   2,929,000    7,102,000  
Deferred    (4,913,000)   (3,368,000)   (2,464,000) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   (5,403,000)   (439,000)   4,638,000  
    

 
   

 
   

 

Net income (loss)   $ 11,113,000   $ (3,246,000)  $ (9,352,000) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Basic income (loss) per common share   $ 1.42   $ (0.42)  $ (1.20) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Diluted income (loss) per common share   $ 1.40   $ (0.42)  $ (1.20) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Weighted average equivalent common shares outstanding    7,841,722    7,809,561    7,777,404  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Weighted average equivalent common shares outstanding — assuming dilution    7,931,593    7,809,561    7,777,404  
    

 

   

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
 
   Common Stock   

Additional
Paid-in
Capital  

 Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)  

 

Retained
Earnings  

 

Total     
Number
of Shares   Amount      

Balance September 30, 2009        7,822,994   $ 2,608,000   $ 89,220,000   $ 18,000   $ 106,533,000   $ 198,379,000  
Net loss        (9,352,000)   (9,352,000) 
Other comprehensive loss net of tax:        

Realization of losses on investment       (28,000)   
Unrealized holding gains arising during the period       3,000    
Income tax benefit       11,000    

       
 

  

Other comprehensive loss       (14,000)    (14,000) 
         

 

Comprehensive loss for the period         (9,366,000) 
Stock-based compensation expense      1,398,000      1,398,000  
Issuance of common stock as compensation    8,340    3,000    182,000      185,000  
Issuance of restricted stock awards and unearned compensation    84,100    28,000    (28,000)     —  
Exercise of stock options    250     4,000      4,000  
Shares exchanged for taxes on stock-based compensation    (13,578)   (5,000)   (370,000)     (375,000) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance September 30, 2010    7,902,106    2,634,000    90,406,000    4,000    97,181,000    190,225,000  
Net loss        (3,246,000)   (3,246,000) 
Other comprehensive loss net of tax:        

Realization of losses on investment       (6,000)   
Income tax benefit       2,000    

       
 

  

Other comprehensive loss       (4,000)    (4,000) 
         

 

Comprehensive loss for the period         (3,250,000) 
Tax deficit resulting from share-based compensation      (453,000)     (453,000) 
Stock-based compensation expense      1,485,000      1,485,000  
Issuance of common stock as compensation    6,479    2,000    184,000      186,000  
Forfeiture of restricted stock awards    (4,000)   (1,000)      (1,000) 
Shares exchanged for taxes on stock-based compensation    (9,400)   (3,000)   (323,000)     (326,000) 
Exercise of stock options    15,700    5,000    292,000      297,000  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance September 30, 2011    7,910,885    2,637,000    91,591,000    —    93,935,000    188,163,000  
Net income        11,113,000    11,113,000  
Stock-based compensation expense      1,245,000      1,245,000  
Issuance of common stock as compensation    7,234    3,000    241,000      244,000  
Exercise of stock options    9,750    3,000    181,000      184,000  
Issuance of restricted stock awards and unearned compensation    103,500    34,000    (34,000)     —  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance September 30, 2012    8,031,369   $ 2,677,000   $ 93,224,000   $ —   $ 105,048,000   $ 200,949,000  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 
   Years Ended September 30,  
   2012   2011   2010  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:     

Net income (loss)   $ 11,113,000   $ (3,246,000)  $ (9,352,000) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:     

Depreciation    32,498,000    30,536,000    27,126,000  
Noncash compensation    1,489,000    1,671,000    1,583,000  
Deferred income tax expense    4,913,000    3,368,000    2,464,000  
Provision for bad debts    327,000    231,000    256,000  
Other    192,000    (516,000)   (343,000) 

Change in current assets and liabilities:     
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable    32,670,000    (30,613,000)   (17,876,000) 
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other assets    3,359,000    3,402,000    (37,000) 
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable    (1,593,000)   3,628,000    6,181,000  
Decrease in accrued liabilities    (2,439,000)   (922,000)   (1,732,000) 
(Decrease) increase in deferred revenue    (6,149,000)   9,412,000    (2,026,000) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by operating activities    76,380,000    16,951,000    6,244,000  
    

 
   

 
   

 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:     
Capital expenditures, net of noncash capital expenditures summarized below in noncash

investing and financing activities    (44,832,000)   (58,550,000)   (18,835,000) 
Proceeds from maturity of short-term investments    500,000    22,500,000    20,000,000  
Acquisition of short-term investments    (4,500,000)   (2,500,000)   (14,964,000) 
Proceeds from disposal of assets    252,000    741,000    434,000  
Partial proceeds on fire insurance claim    —    1,392,000    —  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (48,580,000)   (36,417,000)   (13,365,000) 
    

 
   

 
   

 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:     
Proceeds from notes payable    9,346,000    16,427,000    —  
Principal payments on notes payable    (5,814,000)   (856,000)   —  
Principal payments on capital lease obligations    (220,000)   —    —  
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    184,000    297,000    4,000  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by financing activities    3,496,000    15,868,000    4,000  
    

 
   

 
   

 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    31,296,000    (3,598,000)   (7,117,000) 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD    26,077,000    29,675,000    36,792,000  

    
 

   
 

   
 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD   $ 57,373,000   $ 26,077,000   $ 29,675,000  
    

 

   

 

   

 

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:     
Cash paid for interest expense   $ 618,000   $ 115,000   $ —  
Cash paid for income taxes   $ 262,000   $ 509,000   $ 839,000  
Cash received for income taxes   $ 3,258,000   $ 7,366,000   $ 8,125,000  

NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:     
Accrued purchases of property and equipment   $ 1,405,000   $ 830,000   $ 1,127,000  
Equipment purchase through asset trade in   $ —   $ —   $ 2,260,000  
Capital lease obligations incurred   $ 1,427,000   $ —   $ —  
Unrealized gain on investments   $ —   $ —   $ 3,000  

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and Nature of Operations

Founded in 1952, the Company acquires and processes 2-D, 3-D and multi-component seismic data for its clients, ranging from major oil and gas
companies to independent oil and gas operators as well as providers of multi-client data libraries.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Dawson Seismic Services Holdings, Inc.
and Dawson Seismic Services ULC. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the financial statements, the Company considers demand deposits, certificates of deposit, overnight investments, money market funds and
all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an initial maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Management prepares its allowance for doubtful accounts receivable based on its review of past-due accounts, its past experience of historical write-offs
and its current client base. While the collectability of outstanding client invoices is continually assessed, the inherent volatility of the energy industry’s business
cycle can cause swift and unpredictable changes in the financial stability of the Company’s clients.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is capitalized at historical cost and depreciated over the useful life of the asset. Management’s estimation of this useful life is
based on circumstances that exist in the seismic industry and information available at the time of the purchase of the asset. As circumstances change and new
information becomes available, these estimates could change.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation
are removed from the balance sheet, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in the results of operations for the period.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment when triggering events occur suggesting deterioration in the assets’ recoverability or fair value. Recognition
of an impairment charge is required if future expected undiscounted net cash flows are insufficient to recover the carrying value of the assets and the fair value of
the assets is below the carrying value of the assets. Management’s forecast of future cash flows used to perform impairment analysis includes estimates of future
revenues and expenses based on the Company’s anticipated future results while considering anticipated future oil and natural gas prices which is fundamental in
assessing demand for the Company’s services. If the carrying amounts of the assets exceed the estimated expected undiscounted future cash flows, the Company
measures the amount of possible impairment by comparing the carrying amount of the assets to the fair value. No impairment charges were recognized in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 or 2010.
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DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
 

Leases

The Company leases certain equipment and vehicles under lease agreements. The Company evaluates each lease to determine its appropriate classification
as an operating or capital lease for financial reporting purposes. Any lease that does not meet the criteria for a capital lease is accounted for as an operating lease.
The assets and liabilities under capital leases are recorded at the lower of the present value of the minimum lease payments or the fair market value of the related
assets. Assets under capital leases are depreciated using the straight-line method over the initial lease term.

Revenue Recognition

Services are provided under cancelable service contracts. These contracts are either “turnkey” or “term” agreements. Under both types of agreements, the
Company recognizes revenues when revenue is realizable and services have been performed. Services are defined as the commencement of data acquisition or
processing operations. Revenues are considered realizable when earned according to the terms of the service contracts. Under turnkey agreements, revenue is
recognized on a per unit of data acquired rate as services are performed. Under term agreements, revenue is recognized on a per unit of time worked rate as
services are performed. In the case of a cancelled service contract, revenue is recognized and the customer is billed for services performed up to the date of
cancellation.

The Company receives reimbursements for certain out-of-pocket expenses under the terms of the service contracts. Amounts billed to clients are recorded
in revenue at the gross amount including out-of-pocket expenses that are reimbursed by the client.

In some instances, customers are billed in advance of services performed. In those cases, the Company recognizes the liability as deferred revenue. As
services are performed, those deferred revenue amounts are recognized as revenue.

When it becomes evident that the estimates of total costs to be incurred on a contract will exceed the total estimates of revenue to be earned, an estimated
contract loss is recognized in the period in which the loss is identifiable.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures all employee stock-based compensation awards, which include stock options and restricted stock, using the fair value method and
recognizes compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, in its financial statements. The Company records compensation expense as operating or general and
administrative expense as appropriate in the Consolidated Statements of Operations on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the related stock options or
restricted stock awards.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes by recognizing amounts of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and by using an asset and liability
approach in recognizing the amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s
financial statements or tax returns. Management determines deferred taxes by identifying the types and amounts of existing temporary differences, measuring the
total deferred tax asset or liability using the applicable tax rate in effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
The effect of a change in tax rates of deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the year of an enacted rate change. The deferred tax asset is
reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.
Management’s methodology for recording income taxes requires judgment regarding assumptions and the use of estimates, including
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determining the annual effective tax rate and the valuation of deferred tax assets, which can create variances between actual results and estimates and could have
a material impact on the Company’s provision or benefit for income taxes.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

Preparation of the accompanying financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Because of the use of assumptions and estimates inherent in the reporting process,
actual results could differ from those estimates.

2.    Short-Term Investments

The Company had short-term investments at September 30, 2012 consisting of certificates of deposit with original maturities greater than three months, but
less than a year. Certificates of deposit are limited to one per banking institution and no single investment exceeded the FDIC insurance limit at September 30,
2012. There were no outstanding short-term investments at September 30, 2011.

3.    Fair Value of Financial Instruments

At September 30, 2012 and 2011, the Company’s financial instruments included cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, other current assets,
accounts payable, other current liabilities and the Term Note. At September 30, 2012, the Company’s financial instruments also included short-term investments
in certificates of deposit and the Second Term Note. Due to the short-term maturities of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments in certificates of
deposit, trade and other receivables, other current assets, accounts payables and other current liabilities, the carrying amounts approximate fair value at the
respective balance sheet dates. The Company’s Term Note and Second Term Note approximate their fair value due to the fact that the interest rates on the Term
Note and Second Term Note are reset each month based on the prevailing market interest rate.

4.    Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, together with the related estimated useful lives, were as follows:
 

   September 30,     
   2012   2011   Useful Lives  
Land, building and other   $ 8,641,000   $ 7,532,000    3 to 40 years  
Recording equipment    206,642,000    199,347,000    5 to 10 years  
Line clearing equipment    913,000    —    5 years  
Vibrator energy sources    76,813,000    65,175,000    5 to 15 years  
Vehicles    32,429,000    30,337,000    1.5 to 10 years  
Other(a)    592,000    256,000    —  

    
 

   
 

 

   326,030,000    302,647,000   
Less accumulated depreciation    (164,634,000)   (156,106,000)  

    
 

   
 

 

Net property, plant and equipment   $ 161,396,000   $ 146,541,000   
    

 

   

 

 

 

(a) Other represents accumulated costs associated with equipment fabrication and modification not yet completed.
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5.    Supplemental Consolidated Balance Sheet Information

Accounts receivable consist of the following at September 30, 2012 and 2011:
 

   September 30,  
   2012   2011  
Trade and accrued trade receivables   $ 53,268,000   $ 82,676,000  
Allowance for doubtful accounts    (250,000)   (155,000) 
Accrued receivable for workers’ compensation stop loss policy    623,000    3,852,000  
Other    78,000    343,000  

    
 

   
 

Total accounts receivable   $ 53,719,000   $ 86,716,000  
    

 

   

 

Prepaid expenses and other assets consist of the following at September 30, 2012 and 2011:
 

   September 30,  
   2012    2011  
Prepaid expenses and other assets   $ 762,000    $ 943,000  
Income tax receivable    —     3,311,000  

    
 

    
 

Total prepaid expenses and other assets   $ 762,000    $ 4,254,000  
    

 

    

 

Other current liabilities consist of the following at September 30, 2012 and 2011:
 

   September 30,  
   2012    2011  
Accrued self-insurance reserves   $ 2,181,000    $ 5,567,000  
Income and franchise taxes payable    1,096,000     897,000  
Other accrued expenses and current liabilities    3,148,000     2,766,000  

    
 

    
 

Total other current liabilities   $ 6,425,000    $ 9,230,000  
    

 

    

 

6.    Debt

The Company’s revolving line of credit loan agreement is with Western National Bank. The agreement was renewed June 2, 2011 under the same terms as
the previous agreement. The agreement permits the Company to borrow, repay and reborrow, from time to time until June 2, 2013, up to $20.0 million based on
the borrowing base calculation as defined in the agreement. The Company’s obligations under this agreement are secured by a security interest in its accounts
receivable, equipment and related collateral. Interest on the facility accrues at an annual rate equal to either the 30-day LIBOR, plus two and one-quarter percent,
or the Prime Rate, minus three-quarters percent, as the Company directs monthly, subject to an interest rate floor of 4%. Interest on the outstanding amount under
the loan agreement is payable monthly. The loan agreement contains customary covenants for credit facilities of this type, including limitations on disposition of
assets, mergers and reorganizations. The Company is also obligated to meet certain financial covenants under the loan agreement, including maintaining specified
ratios with respect to cash flow coverage, current assets and liabilities and debt to tangible net worth. The Company was in compliance with all covenants
including specified ratios as of September 30, 2012 and December 5, 2012 and has the full line of credit available for borrowing. The Company has not utilized
the revolving line of credit during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2012 or September 30, 2011.

The Company amended its credit loan agreement with Western National Bank on June 30, 2011 to add the Term Note provision, under which the Company
obtained $16,427,000 in financing for the purchase of Geospace Technologies GSR equipment. The Term Note is repayable over a period of 36 months at
$485,444 per month plus any applicable interest. Interest on the Term Note accrues at an annual rate equal to either the 30-day
 

F-11



Table of Contents

DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
 
LIBOR, plus two and one-quarter percent, or the Prime Rate, minus three-quarters percent, as the Company directs monthly, subject to an interest rate floor of
4%, and otherwise has the same terms as the revolving line of credit. The Term Note is collateralized by a security interest in the Company’s accounts receivable,
equipment and related collateral and matures with all outstanding balances due on June 30, 2014. The fair value of the Term Note approximates its carrying value
at September 30, 2012 due to the fact that the interest rate on the Term Note is reset each month based on the prevailing market interest rate.

On May 11, 2012, the Company entered into the Second Term Note under its credit loan agreement with Western National Bank. The Second Term Note
allows the Company to borrow from time to time up to $15.0 million to purchase equipment. The outstanding principal under the Second Term Note will be
amortized over a period of 36 months. The Second Term Note bears interest at an annual rate equal to either the 30-day LIBOR, plus two and one-quarter percent,
or the Prime Rate, minus three-quarters percent, as the Company directs monthly, subject to an interest rate floor of 3.75%, and otherwise has the same terms as
the revolving line of credit. The Second Term Note is collateralized by a security interest in the Company’s accounts receivable, equipment and related collateral
and matures with all outstanding balances due on May 2, 2015. On July 5, 2012, the Company borrowed $9,346,000 under the Second Term Note to purchase
Geospace Technologies GSR recording equipment. The fair value of the Second Term Note approximates its carrying value at September 30, 2012 due to the fact
that the interest rate on the Second Term Note is reset each month based on the prevailing market interest rate.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2012, the Company began leasing vehicles from Enterprise Fleet Management under capital leases. These capital lease
obligations are payable in 36 to 60 monthly installments and mature between December 2014 and February 2017. At September 30, 2012, the Company had
leased 42 vehicles under these capital leases.

The Company’s notes payable and obligations under capital leases consist of the following:
 

   
September 30,

2012   
September 30,

2011  
Term Note   $ 10,281,000   $ 15,571,000  
Second Term Note    8,821,000    —  
Revolving line of credit    —    —  
Obligations under capital leases    1,208,000    —  

    
 

   
 

  $ 20,310,000   $ 15,571,000  
Less current maturities of notes payable and obligations under capital leases    (9,131,000)   (5,290,000) 

    
 

   
 

  $ 11,179,000   $ 10,281,000  
    

 

   

 

The aggregate maturities of the notes payable and obligations under capital leases at September 30, 2012 are as follows:
 

October 2012 – September 2013   $ 9,131,0000  
October 2013 – September 2014    8,530,000  
October 2014 – September 2015    2,545,000  
October 2015 – September 2016    73,000  
October 2016 – September 2017    31,000  

    
 

  $ 20,310,000  
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7.    Stock-Based Compensation

At September 30, 2012, the Company had one stock-based compensation plan. The awards outstanding under this plan and the associated accounting
treatment are discussed below.

In fiscal 2007, the Company adopted the Dawson Geophysical Company 2006 Stock and Performance Incentive Plan (“the Plan”). The Plan provides
750,000 shares of authorized but unissued common stock of the Company which may be awarded to officers, directors, employees and consultants of the
Company in various forms including options, grants, restricted stock grants and others. Stock option grant prices awarded under the Plan may not be less than the
fair market value of the common stock subject to such option on the grant date, and the term of stock options shall extend no more than ten years after the grant
date.

Incentive Stock Options:

The Company estimates the fair value of each stock option on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The expected volatility is
based on historical volatility of the Company’s stock. The expected term represents the average period that the Company expects stock options to be outstanding
and is determined based on the Company’s historical experience. The risk free interest rate used by the Company as the discounting interest rate is based on the
U.S. Treasury rates on the grant date for securities with maturity dates of approximately the expected term. As the Company has not historically declared
dividends and does not expect to declare dividends over the near term, the dividend yield used in the calculation is zero. Actual value realized, if any, is dependent
on the future performance of the Company’s common stock and overall stock market conditions. There is no assurance the value realized by an optionee will be at
or near the value estimated by the Black-Scholes model.

A summary of the Company’s employee stock options as of September 30, 2012, as well as activity during the year then ended is presented below.
 

   

Number of
Optioned

Shares   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price    

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term in Years   

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value ($000) 
Balance as of September 30, 2011    135,300   $ 18.91      

Granted    —    —      
Exercised    (9,750)   18.91      $ 173  
Forfeited    —    —      

    
 

   
 

    

Balance as of September 30, 2012    125,550   $ 18.91     6.17    $ 797  
    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

Exercisable as of September 30, 2012    87,800   $ 18.91     6.17    $ 558  
    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

No options were granted during fiscal 2012, 2011 or 2010. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $173,000,
$318,000 and $1,000, respectively. The total fair value of options vested during fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $362,000, $362,000 and $364,000, respectively.

A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvested stock option awards as of September 30, 2012 and changes during the year then ended is presented
below.
 

   

Number of
Nonvested

Share Awards  

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value  

Nonvested option awards outstanding September 30, 2011    75,500   $ 9.59  
Granted    —    —  
Vested    (37,750)   9.59  
Forfeited    —    —  

    
 

   
 

Nonvested option awards outstanding September 30, 2012    37,750   $ 9.59  
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Outstanding options at September 30, 2012 expire in December 2018 and have an exercise price of $18.91. As of September 30, 2012, there was
approximately $61,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock option awards to be recognized over a weighted average period of
0.17 years.

Stock options issued under the Company’s 2006 Plan are incentive stock options. No tax deduction is recorded when options are awarded. If an exercise
and sale of vested options results in a disqualifying disposition, a tax deduction for the Company occurs. For the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010,
there were no excess tax benefits from disqualifying dispositions.

Cash received from option exercises under all share-based payment arrangements during the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was
$184,000, $297,000 and $4,000, respectively.

The Company recognized compensation expense associated with stock option awards of $362,000, $362,000 and $363,000 in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. This amount is included in operating or general and administrative expense as appropriate in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Stock Awards:

The Company granted 103,500 and 84,100 shares of restricted stock to employees in fiscal 2012 and 2010, respectively. The weighted average grant date
fair value of restricted stock awards in fiscal 2012 and 2010 was $23.55 and $23.33, respectively. The fair value of the restricted stock granted equals the market
price on the grant date and vests after three years. There were no restricted stock grants in 2011.

A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvested restricted stock awards as of September 30, 2012 and changes during the year then ended is presented
below.
 

   

Number of
Restricted

Share Awards   

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value  

Nonvested restricted shares outstanding September 30, 2011    81,100    $ 23.33  
Granted    103,500    $ 23.55  
Vested    —    $ —  
Forfeited    —    $ —  

    
 

    
 

Nonvested restricted shares outstanding September 30, 2012    184,600    $ 23.45  
    

 

    

 

The Company’s tax benefit with regards to restricted stock awards is consistent with the tax election of the recipient of the award. No elections under IRC
Section 83(b) have been made for the restricted stock awards granted by the Company in fiscal 2012. As a result, the compensation expense recorded for
restricted stock resulted in a deferred tax asset for the Company equal to the tax effect of the amount of compensation expense recorded.

The Company recognized compensation expense related to restricted stock awards of $883,000, $1,123,000 and $1,035,000 in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. This amount is included in operating or general and administrative expense as appropriate in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of
September 30, 2012, there was approximately $2,603,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested restricted stock awards granted. This cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.32 years.

The Company granted common shares with immediate vesting to outside directors and employees in fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010:
 

   
Number of

Shares Granted   

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value  

2012    7,234    $ 33.64  
2011    6,479    $ 28.69  
2010    8,340    $ 22.11  
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The Company recognized expense of $244,000, $186,000 and $185,000 in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, as well as the related tax benefit
associated with these awards.

8.    Employee Benefit Plans

The Company provides a 401(k) plan as part of its employee benefits package in order to retain quality personnel. During fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010,
the Company elected to match 100% of the employee contributions up to a maximum of 6% of the participant’s gross salary. The Company’s matching
contributions for fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010 were approximately $1,521,000, $1,366,000 and $1,270,000, respectively.

9.    Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are charged to expense as incurred. Advertising costs totaled $340,000, $370,000 and $256,000 during the fiscal years ended
September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

10.    Income Taxes

The Company recorded income tax expense in the current year of $5,403,000, as compared to income tax expense of $439,000 in 2011 and income tax
benefit of $4,638,000 in 2010.

Income tax expense (benefit) from operations:
 

   Year Ended September 30,  
   2012   2011   2010  
Current federal   $ (10,000)  $(3,167,000)  $(7,342,000) 
Current state    500,000    238,000    240,000  
Deferred federal    4,737,000    3,920,000    2,817,000  
Deferred state    176,000    (552,000)   (353,000) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $5,403,000   $ 439,000   $(4,638,000) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

The income tax provision differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to income (losses) from continuing
operations before income taxes as follows:
 

   Year Ended September 30,  
   2012   2011   2010  
Tax expense (benefit) computed at statutory rate of 35%   $ 5,781,000   $ (982,000)  $(4,896,000) 
Change in valuation allowance    —    (19,000)   (39,000) 
State income tax expense (benefit), net of federal tax    433,000    (284,000)   (82,000) 
Transaction costs    (1,353,000)   1,353,000    —  
Other    542,000    371,000    379,000  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Income tax expense (benefit)   $ 5,403,000   $ 439,000   $(4,638,000) 
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The principal components of the Company’s net deferred tax liability are as follows:
 

   September 30,  
   2012   2011  
Deferred tax assets:    

Deferred revenue   $ 1,265,000   $ 550,000  
Restricted stock    579,000    258,000  
Workers’ compensation    270,000    331,000  
State tax net operating loss (NOL) carry forward    691,000    853,000  
Federal tax NOL carry forward    12,776,000    13,625,000  
Self-insurance    298,000    298,000  
Canadian start-up costs    153,000    —  
AMT credit carry forward    177,000    177,000  
Other    210,000    262,000  

    
 

   
 

Total deferred tax assets    16,419,000    16,354,000  
Deferred tax liabilities:    

Property and equipment    (42,172,000)   (37,194,000) 
    

 
   

 

Total deferred tax liabilities    (42,172,000)   (37,194,000) 
    

 
   

 

Net deferred tax liability   $ (25,753,000)  $ (20,840,000) 
    

 

   

 

Current portion of net deferred tax asset/liability   $ 1,925,000   $ 1,236,000  
Non-current portion of net deferred tax asset/liability    (27,678,000)   (22,076,000) 

    
 

   
 

Total net deferred tax liability   $ (25,753,000)  $ (20,840,000) 
    

 

   

 

At September 30, 2012, the Company had a gross NOL for U.S. federal income tax purposes of approximately $36,502,000. This NOL expires in 2031.
The Company will carry forward the net federal NOL of approximately $12,776,000. The Company also had net state NOLs that will affect state taxes of
approximately $691,000 at September 30, 2012. State NOLs will begin to expire in 2015. Carryback provisions are not allowed by all states, so the entire state
NOLs give rise to a deferred tax asset. The Company believes, based on past levels of income, it is more likely than not that the results of future operations will
generate sufficient taxable income in which to realize these deferred tax assets. As such, no valuation allowance was considered necessary related to the federal or
state NOLs.

At September 30, 2011, the Company released all of the valuation allowance held at September 30, 2010 related to the Company’s deferred tax assets for
capital loss carry forwards. The Company has no valuation allowances as of September 30, 2012.

The following presents a roll forward of the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits:
 

   September 30,  
   2012   2011  
Balance at beginning of fiscal year   $ 161,000   $235,000  
Expiration of statutes of limitations    (161,000)   (74,000) 

    
 

   
 

Balance at end of fiscal year   $ —   $161,000  
    

 

   

 

As of September 30, 2012, the Company did not recognize any liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits. All of the liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits
lapsed in the statutes of limitations during fiscal 2012. The Company did not record any changes in prior year tax positions, current year tax positions or
settlements with taxing authorities related to uncertain tax positions during fiscal 2012 or 2011.
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The Company’s practice is to recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. In fiscal years 2012 and 2011, the
Company’s net accrued interest and penalties decreased by approximately $98,000 and $11,000, respectively.

11.    Income (loss) per Common Share

Basic income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) for the period by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) for the period by the weighted average number of common
shares and common share equivalents outstanding during the period.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted income (loss) per common share.
 

   2012    2011   2010  
Numerator:      

Net income (loss) and numerator for basic and diluted income (loss) per common share — income
available to common shareholders   $ 11,113,000    $ (3,246,000)  $ (9,352,000) 

    

 

    

 

   

 

Denominator:      
Denominator for basic income (loss) per common share-weighted average common shares    7,841,722     7,809,561    7,777,404  
Effect of dilutive securities-employee stock options and restricted stock grants    89,871     —    —  

    
 

    
 

   
 

Denominator for diluted income (loss) per common share-adjusted weighted average common
shares and assumed conversions    7,931,593     7,809,561    7,777,404  

    

 

    

 

   

 

Basic income (loss) per common share   $ 1.42    $ (0.42)  $ (1.20) 
    

 

    

 

   

 

Diluted income (loss) per common share   $ 1.40    $ (0.42)  $ (1.20) 
    

 

    

 

   

 

The Company had a net loss in 2011 and 2010; therefore the denominator for diluted loss per common share is the same as the denominator for basic loss
per common share for these periods.

The following weighted average numbers of certain securities have been excluded from the calculation of diluted income (loss) per common share, as their
effects would be anti-dilutive.
 

   2012    2011    2010  
Stock options    —     140,487     151,710  
Restricted stock    46,273     105,655     54,397  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total    46,273     246,142     206,107  
    

 

    

 

    

 

12.    Major Customers

The Company operates in only one business segment, contract seismic data acquisition and processing services. The major customers in fiscal 2012, 2011
and 2010 have varied. Sales to these customers, as a percentage of operating revenues that exceeded 10%, were as follows:
 

   2012  2011  2010 
A    21%   27%   32% 
B    —    24%   —  
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13.    Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Company is a party to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. Although the Company cannot predict
the outcomes of any such legal proceedings, management believes that the resolution of pending legal actions will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s financial condition, results of operations or liquidity as the Company believes it is adequately indemnified and insured.

The Company experiences contractual disputes with its clients from time to time regarding the payment of invoices or other matters. While the Company
seeks to minimize these disputes and maintain good relations with its clients, the Company has in the past, and may in the future, experience disputes that could
affect its revenues and results of operations in any period.

The Company has non-cancelable operating leases for domestic office space in Midland, Houston, Denver, Oklahoma City and Pittsburgh and foreign
office space in Calgary, Canada.

The following table summarizes payments due in specific periods related to the Company’s contractual obligations with initial terms exceeding one year as
of September 30, 2012.
 

   Payments Due by Period (in 000’s)  

   Total    
Within
1 Year    

1-
2 Years    

3-
5 Years   

After
5 Years 

Operating lease obligations (office space)   $3,288    $ 865    $1,720    $ 703    $ —  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Some of the Company’s operating leases contain predetermined fixed increases of the minimum rental rate during the initial lease term. For these leases,
the Company recognizes the related expense on a straight-line basis and records deferred rent as the difference between the amount charged to expense and the
rent paid. Rental expense under the Company’s operating leases with initial terms exceeding one year was $805,000, $717,000 and $619,000 for fiscal 2012, 2011
and 2010, respectively.

As of November 30, 2012, the Company had unused letters of credit totaling approximately $1,580,000. The Company’s letters of credit principally back
obligations associated with the Company’s self-insured retention on workers’ compensation claims. Effective in fiscal 2012, the Company was no longer self-
insured for workers’ compensation claims after October 1, 2011. The unused letters of credit outstanding at November 30, 2012 are associated with workers’
compensation claims outstanding prior to October 1, 2011.

14.    Rights Agreement

On July 8, 2009, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized and declared a dividend to the holders of record at the close of business on July 23,
2009 of one Right (a “Right”) for each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock. When exercisable, each Right will entitle the registered holder to
purchase from the Company a unit consisting of one one-hundredth of a share (a “Fractional Share”) of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value
$1.00 per share, of the Company (the “Preferred Shares”), at a purchase price of $130.00 per Fractional Share, subject to adjustment (the “Purchase Price”). The
description and terms of the Rights are set forth in a Rights Agreement (the “Rights Agreement”) effective as of the close of business on July 23, 2009 as it may
from time to time be supplemented or amended between the Company and Computershare Shareowner Services LLC (formerly Mellon Investor Services LLC),
as Rights Agent. The Rights Agreement replaced the previous rights plan that was originally adopted in 1999 which expired on July 23, 2009.

Initially, the Rights are attached to all certificates representing outstanding shares of Common Stock. The Rights will only separate from the Common
Stock and a “Distribution Date” will only occur, with certain exceptions, upon the earlier of (i) ten days following a public announcement that a person or group
of affiliated
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or associated persons (an “Acquiring Person”) has acquired, or obtained the right to acquire, beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the outstanding shares of
Common Stock, or (ii) ten business days following the commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer that would result in a person’s becoming an Acquiring
Person. In certain circumstances, the Distribution Date may be deferred by the Board of Directors.

The Rights are not exercisable until the Distribution Date and will expire at the close of business on July 23, 2019, unless earlier redeemed or exchanged by
the Company as described below.

In the event (a “Flip-In Event”) that a person becomes an Acquiring Person (except pursuant to a tender or exchange offer for all outstanding shares of
Common Stock at a price and on terms that a majority of the directors of the Company who are not, and are not representatives, nominees, Affiliates or Associates
of, an Acquiring Person or the person making the offer determines to be fair to and otherwise in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders (a
“Permitted Offer”)), each holder of a Right will thereafter have the right to receive, upon exercise of such Right, a number of shares of Common Stock (or, in
certain circumstances, cash, property or other securities of the Company) having a Current Market Price (as defined in the Rights Agreement) equal to two times
the exercise price of the Right. Notwithstanding the foregoing, following the occurrence of any Triggering Event, all Rights that are, or (under certain
circumstances specified in the Rights Agreement) were, beneficially owned by or transferred to an Acquiring Person (or by certain related parties) will be null
and void in the circumstances set forth in the Rights Agreement. However, Rights are not exercisable following the occurrence of any Flip-In Event until such
time as the Rights are no longer redeemable by the Company as set forth below.

In the event (a “Flip-Over Event”) that, at any time from and after the time an Acquiring Person becomes such, (i) the Company is acquired in a merger or
other business combination transaction (other than certain mergers that follow a Permitted Offer), or (ii) 50% or more of the Company’s assets, cash flow or
earning power is sold or transferred, each holder of a Right (except Rights that are voided as set forth above) shall thereafter have the right to receive, upon
exercise, a number of shares of common stock of the acquiring company having a Current Market Price equal to two times the exercise price of the Right. Flip-In
Events and Flip-Over Events are collectively referred to as “Triggering Events.”

At any time until ten days following the first date of public announcement of the occurrence of a Flip-In Event, the Company may redeem the Rights in
whole, but not in part, at a price of $0.01 per Right, payable, at the option of the Company, in cash, shares of Common Stock or such other consideration as the
Board of Directors may determine. After a person becomes an Acquiring Person, the right of redemption is subject to certain limitations in the Rights Agreement.

At any time after the occurrence of a Flip-In Event and prior to a person’s becoming the beneficial owner of 50% or more of the shares of Common Stock
then outstanding or the occurrence of a Flip-Over Event, the Company may exchange the Rights (other than Rights owned by an Acquiring Person or an affiliate
or an associate of an Acquiring Person, which will have become void), in whole or in part, at an exchange ratio of one share of Common Stock, and/or other
equity securities deemed to have the same value as one share of Common Stock, per Right, subject to adjustment.

Until a Right is exercised, the holder thereof, as such, will have no rights as a shareholder of the Company, including, without limitation, the right to vote or
to receive dividends.

15.    Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2011-04, “Fair Value Measurement
(Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting
Standards,” to provide a consistent definition of fair value and ensure that the fair value measurement and disclosure requirements are similar between U.S.
GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards. ASU 2011-04
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changes certain fair value measurement principles and enhances disclosure requirements, particularly for Level 3 fair value measurements. The enhanced
disclosures and fair value measurement principles were effective for the Company as of January 1, 2012. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material
impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, “Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive Income,” to require an entity to
present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single continuous
statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. ASU 2011-05 eliminates the option to present the components of other
comprehensive income as part of the statement of equity. This update does not change what items are reported in other comprehensive income or the requirement
to report reclassification of items from other comprehensive income to net income. However, in December 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-12,
“Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05,” that deferred the specific requirement within ASU 2011-05 to present on the face of the
financial statements items that are reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to net income separately with their respective components of net
income and other comprehensive net income. Entities should continue to report reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income using guidance
in effect before ASU 2011-05 was issued. ASU 2011-05 will be effective for the Company in its first quarter of fiscal 2013, though earlier adoption is permitted.
The update will be applied retrospectively upon adoption, and the Company believes the adoption will not have a material effect on its financial statements.

16.    Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk at any given time may consist of cash and cash equivalents,
money market funds and overnight investment accounts, short-term investments in certificates of deposit, trade and other receivables and other current assets. At
September 30, 2012 and 2011, the Company had deposits with domestic banks in excess of federally insured limits. Management believes the credit risk
associated with these deposits is minimal. Money market funds seek to preserve the value of the investment, but it is possible to lose money investing in these
funds. The Company invests funds overnight under a repurchase agreement with its bank which is collateralized by securities of the United States Federal
agencies. The Company generally invests primarily in short-term U.S. Treasury Securities. The Company believes its investments are of high credit quality.

The Company’s sales are to clients whose activities relate to oil and natural gas exploration and production. The Company generally extends unsecured
credit to these clients; therefore, collection of receivables may be affected by the economy surrounding the oil and natural gas industry or other economic
conditions. The Company closely monitors extensions of credit and may negotiate payment terms that mitigate risk. For the year ended September 30, 2012, sales
to the Company’s largest client represented 21% of both its revenues and revenues net of third-party charges as compared to 27% and 18%, respectively, at
September 30, 2011. The remaining balance of the Company’s fiscal 2012 revenues was derived from varied clients and none represented 10% or more of its
fiscal 2012 revenues.

17.    Subsequent Events

The Company evaluates subsequent events through the date the financial statements are issued in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.
The Company considers its financial statements issued when they are widely distributed to users, such as filing with the SEC.
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18.    Quarterly Consolidated Financial Data (Unaudited)
 

   Quarter Ended  
   December 31   March 31   June 30    September 30  
Fiscal 2011:       

Operating revenues   $ 72,653,000   $ 78,337,000   $ 98,033,000    $ 84,256,000  
(Loss) income from operations   $ (2,817,000)  $ (6,545,000)  $ 898,000    $ 5,138,000  
Net (loss) income   $ (1,667,000)  $ (4,857,000)  $ 334,000    $ 2,944,000  
Basic (loss) income per common share   $ (0.21)  $ (0.62)  $ 0.04    $ 0.38  
Diluted (loss) income per common share   $ (0.21)  $ (0.62)  $ 0.04    $ 0.37  

Fiscal 2012:       
Operating revenues   $ 92,382,000   $ 85,546,000   $ 68,348,000    $ 72,998,000  
Income from operations   $ 3,226,000   $ 9,446,000   $ 1,798,000    $ 2,131,000  
Net income   $ 3,231,000   $ 5,589,000   $ 1,141,000    $ 1,152,000  
Basic income per common share   $ 0.41   $ 0.71   $ 0.15    $ 0.15  
Diluted income per common share   $ 0.41   $ 0.70   $ 0.14    $ 0.15  

Basic income per share and diluted income per share are computed independently for each of the quarters presented. Therefore, the sum of quarterly basic
and diluted per share information may not equal the annual basic and diluted earnings per share.
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Balance at
Beginning
of Period    

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses   Deductions    

Balance at
End of
Period  

Allowance for doubtful accounts*:        
Fiscal Year:        

2012   $155,000    $327,000   $232,000    $250,000  
2011    639,000     231,000    715,000     155,000  
2010    533,000     256,000    150,000     639,000  

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets:        
Fiscal Year:        

2012   $ —    $ —   $ —    $ —  
2011    19,000     (19,000)   —     —  
2010    58,000     (39,000)   —     19,000  

 

* Deductions related to allowance for doubtful accounts represent amounts that have been deemed uncollectible and written off by the Company.
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  3.1

  

Second Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company, as amended (filed on February 9, 2007 as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter ended December 31, 2006 (File No. 000-10144) and incorporated herein by reference and filed on
November 28, 2007 as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-10144) and incorporated herein by reference).

  3.2
  

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, as amended (filed on November 23, 2010 as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010 (File No. 001-34404) and incorporated herein by reference).

  3.3
  

Amendment No. 2 to Second Amended and Restated Bylaws, as amended, of the Company (filed on March 21, 2011 as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-34404) and incorporated herein by reference).

  3.4
  

Amendment No. 3 to Second Amended and Restated Bylaws, as amended, of the Company (filed on November 30, 2012 as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-34404) and incorporated herein by reference).

  3.5
  

Statement of Resolution Establishing Series of Shares of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of the Company (filed on July 9, 2009 as
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-10144) and incorporated herein by reference).

  4.1

  

Rights Agreement effective as of July 23, 2009 between the Company and Mellon Investor Services LLC as Rights Agent, which includes as
Exhibit A the form of Statement of Resolution Establishing Series of Shares of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock setting forth the
terms of the Preferred Stock, as Exhibit B the form of Rights Certificate and as Exhibit C the Summary of Rights to Purchase Preferred Stock
(filed on July 9, 2009 as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-10144) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.1†
  

Dawson Geophysical Company 2006 Stock and Performance Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”), dated November 28, 2006 (filed on January 29,
2007 as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-10144) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.2†
  

Dawson Geophysical Company 2004 Incentive Stock Plan (filed on March 12, 2004 as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (File No. 333-113576) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.3†
  

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for the 2006 Plan (filed on February 11, 2008 as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q (File No. 000-10144) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.4†
  

Form of Stock Option Agreement for the 2006 Plan (filed on February 11, 2008 as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q (File No. 000-10144) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5†
  

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for the 2006 Plan (filed on August 6, 2007 as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 000-10144) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.6†
  

Form of Stock Option Agreement for the 2006 Plan (filed on August 6, 2007 as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File
No. 000-10144) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.7†
  

Description of Profit Sharing Plan (filed on December 3, 2007 as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-
10144) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.8†
  

Description of Profit Sharing Plan (filed on September 29, 2008 as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-
10144) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.9†
  

Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation (filed on February 9, 2009 as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q (File No. 000-10144) and incorporated herein by reference).
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10.10*  Form of Master Geophysical Data Acquisition Agreement.

10.11*  Form of Supplemental Agreement to Master Geophysical Data Acquisition Agreement.

10.12†
 

Form of Indemnification Agreement with Directors and Officers of the Company (filed on March 21, 2011 as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-34404) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.13
 

Revolving Line of Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2011, between the Company and Western National Bank (filed on
August 9, 2011 as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-34404) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.14
 

Security Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2011, between the Company and Western National Bank (filed on August 9, 2011 as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-34404) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.15
 

Multiple Advance Term Note Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2012, between the Company and Western National Bank (filed on August 9, 2012
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-34404) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.16
 

Security Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2012, between the Company and Western National Bank (filed on August 9, 2012 as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-34404) and incorporated herein by reference).

21.1*  List of Subsidiaries.

23.1*  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.1*
 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Dawson Geophysical Company pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

31.2*
 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Dawson Geophysical Company pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) promulgated under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended.

32.1*

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Dawson Geophysical Company pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code. Pursuant to SEC Release 34-47551,
this Exhibit is furnished to the SEC and shall not be deemed to be “filed.”

32.2*

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Dawson Geophysical Company pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code. Pursuant to SEC Release 34-47551,
this Exhibit is furnished to the SEC and shall not be deemed to be “filed.”

**101

 

The following materials from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2012, formatted in XBRL
(Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011, (ii) Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for
the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010, and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

 

* Filed herewith.
 

** Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactive data files are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of
Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 or Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwise are not subject to liability under these
sections.

 

† Identifies exhibit that consists of or includes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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MASTER GEOPHYSICAL
DATA ACQUISITION AGREEMENT

This MASTER GEOPHYSICAL DATA ACQUISITION AGREEMENT (the “Master Agreement” or “Agreement”) is entered into this      day of             ,
2012; between                     , having an office located in                      (hereinafter called “Company”) as well as, any legal entity which controls, is controlled by
or is under common control of the Company (the “Affiliate” or “Affiliates”) and Dawson Geophysical Company, a Texas corporation having offices in Midland,
Texas (hereinafter called “Contractor”) and its Affiliates. Company and Contractor may each be referred to herein as “Party” or collectively as “Parties”.

For and in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises of the Parties herein set forth, the Parties do hereby agree as follows:
 
1. NATURE OF WORK

1.1 Contractor shall conduct, for the benefit of Company, field geophysical data acquisition surveys (the “Surveys” or the “Work”) and related services in search
of subsurface geological formations and structures favorable to the accumulation of oil, gas and mineral deposits underlying those land areas designated, from
time to time, by Company and accepted by Contractor, all in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and the applicable Supplemental
Agreement. Contractor, if requested by Company, shall also provide data processing and/or interpretation services of and for the field data (“Data”) so acquired.

1.2 Such Survey(s) shall be conducted by one or more geophysical crews, as may be agreed upon by Contractor and Company, in such a manner and subject to
the terms and conditions as set forth herein and in the applicable Supplemental Agreement. If data processing services are requested, such services shall be done
in Contractor’s data processing service centers in Midland, Texas; Houston, Texas; or Oklahoma City, Oklahoma.

1.3 Nothing herein shall require Company to contract with Contractor or Contractor to accept assignments from Company to conduct Survey(s), except as may be
agreed upon, from time to time, in an appropriate Supplemental Agreement.
 
2. SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS

2.1 (General) Whenever Company requests, and Contractor agrees, to conduct a Survey on behalf of Company, Contractor and Company shall enter into separate
Supplemental Agreements for each separate Survey so undertaken, which Supplemental Agreements shall be consecutively numbered for identification and shall
provide the following:
 

 (a) The area(s) (state, county/parish, etc.) where the Survey(s) will be conducted (“Area of Operations”).
 

 (b) The approximate commencement date, if applicable, of the Survey(s) (“Commencement Date”).
 

 (c) The approximate period of time or number of miles (or square miles), if applicable, that will be required to complete the Survey(s).
 

 (d) The type of Survey(s) to be conducted. The equipment, instruments, personnel and other items (“Crew”) which will be required for the Survey(s).
 

 (e) The parameters and other technical aspects of the Survey(s) and/or the processing of the Data acquired thereby.
 

 (f) The compensation to be paid Contractor for conducting the Survey(s) (“Compensation”).
 

 (g) Any other matters of a business, operational or technical nature as may be agreed by the Parties.

2.2 (Crew Availability) It is recognized that difficulties in scheduling the activities of Contractor’s geophysical crews may result in overlap or conflicts which
prevent Contractor from providing geophysical Crews to conduct a particular Survey designated by Company at the time desired. Contractor shall make every
reasonable effort to avoid such overlaps or conflicts in furnishing Company a geophysical Crew for any designated Survey. In the event of any such conflict,
however, Contractor shall notify Company promptly after such Survey has been requested by
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Company that Contractor will be unable to conduct the Survey pursuant to Company’s time schedule. There shall then be, if feasible, at the election of Company,
an agreed alternate date between Company and Contractor that shall be a firm date for commencement of the Survey by Contractor. If no such alternate date can
be agreed upon, then Contractor shall thereafter have no obligations hereunder in connection with not conducting said Survey.

2.3 (Incorporation by Reference) Each Supplemental Agreement shall be incorporated herein by reference, and all terms and provisions of this Agreement shall
apply to each Supplemental Agreement unless, in any particular Supplemental Agreement, any of the terms and conditions hereof are eliminated or modified for
purposes of that Supplemental Agreement by specific reference to those terms and conditions hereof to be eliminated or modified. Any Supplemental Agreement
incorporated herein and subject, thereby, to the terms and conditions hereof shall hereinafter be referred to as “Supplemental Agreement” or “Supplement.”
This Master Agreement and any applicable Supplemental Agreements may collectively be referred to as “this Agreement.”

2.4 (Conflicting Terms) In the event of a conflict between any of the terms and conditions of this Master Agreement and those of any Supplemental Agreement,
the appropriate terms of this Agreement shall govern and control, unless specifically provided to the contrary in any Supplemental Agreement, as provided above,
or where a provision herein states that it is subject to or otherwise anticipates contrary terms of a Supplement. The fact that additional terms or provisions appear
in one or the other document shall not, in and of itself, create a conflict.
 
3. PERSONNEL, EQUIPMENT AND SUPPLIES

3.1 (General) The Contractor shall furnish, place in service and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, for the performance of Survey(s) hereunder, the Crew more
particularly described in Supplemental Agreements annexed hereto.

3.2 (Additional/Different Personnel or Equipment) Changing operating conditions may require the Crew personnel and equipment set forth in said Supplemental
Agreements to be increased, reduced or changed or the Area of Operations or the parameters of the Survey changed. Accordingly, Contractor shall, when
authorized by Company, furnish such auxiliary or additional personnel, equipment, supplies and services or make such other changes as may be required in
connection therewith all as more particularly set forth and described in the Supplemental Agreements or amendments thereto, which shall clearly set forth the
additional compensation, if any, to be paid to the Contractor as a result of such changes.
 
4. CONDUCT OF OPERATIONS

4.1 (Conduct of Operations by Contractor) In conducting operations hereunder, Contractor shall use its best efforts to conduct all operations hereunder in
accordance with the terms and specifications of this Agreement (and those of the applicable Supplemental Agreement) and in conformance with generally
accepted practices of the geophysical data acquisition industry. In particular, Contractor agrees that, in conducting operations under the terms hereof it will:
 

 (a) Enter upon no lands in respect of which all necessary Land Entry Permits shall not have been first obtained, as provided in Clause 5 below.
 

 
(b) Equip its Crew with instruments and equipment as specified in the Supplemental Agreement and maintain such equipment in good operating

condition and provide its Crew with qualified and experienced personnel.
 

 
(c) Perform all Survey(s) hereunder in an orderly, efficient and workmanlike manner in compliance with the terms of this Agreement and each

Supplemental Agreement and all applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations for the time being in force in every state and locality wherein the
Survey(s) hereunder is to be performed.

 

 
(d) Comply fully with the provisions of all worker’s compensation legislation, ordinances, rules and regulations in force in every state wherein the

Survey(s) is (are) to be performed.
 

 
(e) Initiate all energy source units at a safe distance from water wells, buildings and other structures owned by third parties for the purpose of avoiding,

as far as reasonably possible and consistent with prudent geophysical operations, damage to such wells, buildings and other structures.
 

 
(f) Attempt to minimize disturbance to the surface of the land and all crops and other vegetation thereon. Liability for any subsequent requirements for

erosional or pollution repair or prevention which has not been caused by the negligence or other fault of Contractor shall rest solely with Company
under Clause 8.4 below, which liability shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
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4.2 (Company’s Obligations) Company agrees with Contractor that it will:
 

 
(a) Not require Contractor to do any matter, act or thing in the performance of the Survey(s) hereunder that is contrary to or in violation of any law,

ordinance, rule or regulation governing the subject matter of this Agreement.
 

 

(b) In the event Company is responsible, under the terms of any Supplemental Agreement, for obtaining Land Entry Permits (Clause 5 below) and/or the
surveying, shot-hole drilling or other components of a Survey (whether such services will be provided by Company or other contractors of
Company), cause such services to be provided in a timely and competent manner and shall be responsible, to the extent provided herein and in the
Supplemental Agreement, and indemnify, save and hold Contractor harmless for all costs, losses and liabilities related thereto.

 

 
(c) Designate, sufficiently in advance to permit orderly planning of the Survey by Contractor, each area to be surveyed and shall furnish Contractor with

all land and base maps, subsurface well data and all other information that may be necessary or helpful to the conduct of the Survey(s), all of which
shall be considered the property of Company to be held by Contractor confidential as provided in Clause 7 below.

4.3 (Work Time) Normal hours and days of work, time off and holidays to be observed shall be as provided in the applicable Supplemental Agreements hereto or
as otherwise agreed by the Parties.

4.4 (Progress of the Work) Contractor shall keep Company fully informed on a timely basis of the progress of operations and results obtained during the course of
the Work hereunder and shall consult with Company’s Representative(s) concerning planning of the Work and the seismic data collected. Progress reports shall be
furnished by Contractor as provided in Clause 6 below.

4.5 (No Liens)

4.5.1 Contractor shall not allow any mechanic’s or materialmen’s liens or encumbrances to become attached to any property of Company resulting from the
Work performed by Contractor hereunder; provided, however, that Contractor itself may file mechanic’s, materialman’s or other liens as may be appropriate to
secure payment by the Company to Contractor under this Agreement. Likewise, Contractor shall be solely responsible for, and shall promptly pay, when due, all
obligations for labor and material supplied by third parties for Work to be performed hereunder and shall indemnify and save Company harmless from and against
any and all claims, liens, security interests or other encumbrances on or against Company property on account of labor performed or materials furnished to
Contractor by its subcontractors, suppliers and vendors for such Work; provided, however, that Contractor shall not be required to make payment of any such
claim where a bona fide dispute with regard thereto exists between Contractor and its vendors or suppliers. Contractor shall provide Company with recordable
Releases for all such claims and liens so satisfied.

4.5.2 Company may, if it so elects, pay or discharge any such lien or encumbrance and may thereupon deduct the amount or amount so paid by Company
from any sums been due or which thereafter shall become due to Contractor under the terms hereof; provided, however, that prior to discharging any such lien or
encumbrance, Company will consult with Contractor in order to determine whether or not there is a bona fide dispute between Contractor and its supplier or
subcontractor concerning the claim underlying the lien or encumbrance. If such a bona fide dispute does exist, Company shall delay discharging the affected lien
or encumbrance until the matter is resolved.

4.6 (Title to Data) Except as provided elsewhere in this Agreement or in any Supplemental Agreement, title to all Data shall pass to Company when acquired by
Contractor and subject to payment by the Company to Contractor of all of Contractor’s obligations hereunder, and Contractor shall deliver all Data to Company
retaining no copies thereof; provided, however, that Contractor shall deliver to Company all records, maps, reports or other information which has been produced
by the work performed hereunder upon termination of this Agreement, if so required in writing by the Company.
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4.7 (Waiver of Mineral Interest) Unless otherwise specifically provided for in this Agreement or any Supplemental Agreement hereto, Contractor, for itself and its
subcontractors and the officers, directors and employees thereof, hereby waives any right, title or interest it may have in, and to any discovery of, hydrocarbon or
other mineral deposits which may be made by reason for the Work performed under the terms of this Agreement.
 
5. PERMITS

5.1. (General) Unless Company assumes the permitting responsibility under Clause 5.3 below, Contractor shall, at Company’s request and expense, obtain such
permits, licenses and clearances (the “Land Entry Permits”). Company’s cost shall include entry fees and damage payments as well as payments to
governmental agents, per diem, if any, needed to secure such Land Entry Permits. Contractor will use its reasonable efforts to secure written Land Entry Permits
from the person or persons representing themselves to be owners or lessees of the areas involved. Contractor will not enter upon lands where Land Entry Permits
have not been obtained by it (or represented by Company as having been obtained by it) unless otherwise directed, in writing with full indemnification in favor of
Contractor, at Company’s sole risk, by Company to do so.

5.2 (Permit Fees) In the event it becomes necessary to pay for permission to enter upon any area connected with the Survey, Contractor will notify Company of
such area involved and the fees required in order to obtain the Land Entry Permits and will proceed with the consent of Company’s Representative. Company will
reimburse Contractor the cost of all such Permits unless otherwise provided in the applicable Supplemental Agreement.

5.3 (Permits Obtained by Company) In the event Company assumes the responsibility for obtaining or supervising the obtaining of all or some Land Entry
Permits from land owners, mineral owners, appropriate governmental agencies, lessees, tenants, and all other persons having permissible interests in the land or
its subsurface minerals, in the Area of Operations, as may be required in connection with all such Survey(s) to be performed by Contractor under this Agreement,
either by utilizing Company personnel or those of third party contractors (whether individuals, corporate or otherwise), Company shall have the obligations set
forth in Clause 8.6 below and Contractor shall not be responsible for any delays in its operations caused by (i) the inability of Company to acquire any Permit on
a timely basis or (ii) onerous provisions contained in such Permits which impede or adversely affect the operations of Contractor hereunder. Contractor shall be
compensated during any such delays at the standby rate set forth in the applicable Supplement. If Company acquires Land Entry Permits, it will provide copies
thereof to Contractor sufficiently in advance of operations in order for Contractor to properly plan its operations.
 
6. REPORTS

6.1 (Required Reports) During the course of the Survey(s), Contractor shall furnish Company with such periodic production and progress reports as provided in
the applicable Supplemental Agreement or, if not so provided, as Company shall reasonably require, including (subject to Clause 7.2 below) such reports as may
be required by the various agencies of the federal, state and local authorities where the Survey is being performed.

6.2 (Completion Report) As soon as possible upon completion of each Survey, Contractor shall furnish Company with reports and data as follows:
 

 
(a) A final report consisting of a written description of the Survey(s) performed and the results thereof accompanied by maps on a base supplied by

Company of all data considered necessary by Company.
 

 
(b) All field data sheets, computation sheets, seismograph records, weathering data, and engineering data as may have been generated in the performance

of the Survey(s), which reports and materials shall be permanent property of Company but accessible to Contractor for technical examination any
time prior to the expiration of this Agreement.

 

 (c) Any other reports or data as may be provided for in the applicable Supplemental Agreement.

Contractor shall not be required to include in reports prepared for, or information or data supplied to Company hereunder, any data or information proprietary to
Contractor, including, but not limited to, that pertaining to its instruments, equipment, methods or expertise.

6.3 (USE OF REPORTS) THE RESULTS STATED AND THE CONCLUSIONS DRAWN FROM ALL REPORTS FURNISHED BY CONTRACTOR TO
COMPANY HEREUNDER SHALL REPRESENT THE BEST OPINION, EFFORTS AND JUDGMENT OF THE CONTRACTOR; HOWEVER,
CONTRACTOR CANNOT AND
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DOES NOT WARRANT OR GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OR CORRECTNESS THEREOF. ANY ACTION WHICH COMPANY (OR THOSE
ASSOCIATED WITH COMPANY) MAY TAKE AS A RESULT OF OR BASED ON SUCH REPORTS AND THE DATA TO WHICH IT REFERS SHALL BE
ITS OWN RESPONSIBILITY AND CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT BE LIABLE OR RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY LOSS, COST, DAMAGES OR EXPENSES
WHATSOEVER, INCLUDING INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, INCURRED OR SUSTAINED BY COMPANY RESULTING
THEREFROM FOR WHICH COMPANY HEREBY RELEASES CONTRACTOR; PROVIDED THAT ALL SUCH REPORTS, DATA AND INFORMATION,
AS WELL AS THE BASIC DATA UPON WHICH THEY ARE BASED, ARE ACQUIRED, COMPILED AND PREPARED, AS THE CASE MAY BE, IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT.

6.4 (Access to Data) Company shall at all times have complete access to all geophysical records and such other data of Contractor relating to the Work and all
such data and records shall, at the conclusion of the Work, belong exclusively to Company, but shall be retained by the Contractor pending instructions to be
issued by Company with regard to the deposition thereof, subject to the terms and conditions of clauses 5 above and 13.6 below.
 
7. CONFIDENTIALITY

7.1 (Confidentiality of Data) Contractor shall use its best efforts to safeguard (i) geophysical Data acquired from the Work performed hereunder, (ii) information
relating to the location of the Surveys and the type of Work performed and (iii) information supplied by Company to Contractor which is not otherwise
proprietary to Contractor. Contractor shall not divulge to anyone, other than Company, its designated agents or employees, any such Data or information unless
previously authorized by Company in writing. Contractor shall further use its best efforts to cause its employees, agents and subcontractors to comply with this
obligation of secrecy. Reciprocally, Company shall observe the above secrecy obligation, insofar as it has access to and knowledge of the equipment, instruments,
programs, procedures, and the design and operation thereof, which are proprietary to Contractor.

7.2 (Confidentiality Exceptions) The obligations of confidentiality and limited use contained in this Agreement shall not apply to information subject to this
Agreement which:

7.2.1 At the time of disclosure to the receiving Party, was in the public domain as evidenced by written publications;

7.2.2 After disclosure to the receiving Party, became part of the public domain by written publication through no fault of the receiving Party;

7.2.3 At the time of disclosure to the receiving Party, was already in the possession of the receiving Party as evidenced by written records, and was not
acquired directly or indirectly from the disclosing Party;

7.2.4 After disclosure to the receiving Party, the receiving Party acquired the information from a third party having the right to convey the same, provided
the receiving Party is not obligated to hold such information in confidence by such third party;

7.2.5 Is furnished to a third party by the disclosing Party without any restriction on the third party’s rights to disclose such information; or

7.2.6 Is authorized in writing by the disclosing Party to be released from the confidentiality and limited use obligations herein.

7.2.7 Is covered by Clause 7.3 below.

7.3 (Government Reporting) It is understood that it is the responsibility of Company and Contractor to comply with applicable laws, regulations, rules, court or
government agency order or stock exchange regulation or rule regarding the making of reports and disclosures to appropriate governmental agencies of Data and
information relating to the Work and Contractor shall promptly refer to Company for appropriate action, including the seeking, at its sole cost, such protective
action as it deems appropriate, any inquiry or request received by it from any governmental agency respecting Data and information obtained under the terms
thereof, and if Company shall instruct Contractor not to comply with any such inquiry or request, Company shall defend and indemnify Contractor against any
loss, damage, fine or penalty or other sanction received, incurred or suffered by Contractor in consequence of complying with such instruction.
 

Page 5 of 15
MASTER GEOPHYSICAL DATA ACQUISITION AGREEMENT



8. INDEMNITY

8.1 (GENERAL) IN ORDER TO ALLOCATE THE RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF COMPANY AND CONTRACTOR FOR LIABILITIES
ARISING OUT OF PERSONAL INJURY OR PROPERTY DAMAGE RELATED TO THE WORK, IT IS AGREED AS BETWEEN COMPANY AND
CONTRACTOR THAT CERTAIN RESPONSIBILITIES AND LIABILITIES FOR PERSONAL INJURIES AND PROPERTY DAMAGE ARISING
OUT OF THE PERFORMANCE OF THIS AGREEMENT SHOULD BE ALLOCATED BETWEEN THEM IN ORDER TO AVOID PROTRACTED
LITIGATION BETWEEN COMPANY AND CONTRACTOR, ALONG WITH THE ASSOCIATED LEGAL EXPENSES AND SO THAT
INSURANCE OR SELF-INSURANCE MAY BE ARRANGED BY EACH PARTY AS NECESSARY TO PROTECT THEM AGAINST THESE
EXPOSURES TO LOSS. THE FOLLOWING SETS OUT THE SPECIFICS OF THE AGREEMENTS BETWEEN COMPANY AND CONTRACTOR
AS TO THE ALLOCATION OF SUCH RESPONSIBILITIES AND LIABILITIES.

INITIAL                     

8.2 (CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITY) CONTRACTOR WILL PROTECT, DEFEND, INDEMNIFY AND HOLD COMPANY, ITS OFFICERS
AND DIRECTORS, HARMLESS FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, LOSS, EXPENSE, OR DAMAGES (INCLUDING COSTS OF
DEFENSE ASSOCIATED THEREWITH) ARISING FROM ANY CAUSE WHATSOEVER, OUT OF THE WORK TO BE PERFORMED UNDER
THIS AGREEMENT, PROVIDED THAT THE CLAIM ARISES FROM CONTRACTOR’S OR ITS SUB-CONTRACTORS NEGLIGENCE AND
CONTRACTOR SHALL DEFEND COMPANY AT CONTRACTOR’S SOLE EXPENSE IN ANY LITIGATION INVOLVING THE SAME.

INITIAL                     

8.3 (COMPANY’S RESPONSIBILITY) COMPANY WILL PROTECT, DEFEND, INDEMNIFY AND HOLD CONTRACTOR, ITS OFFICERS AND
DIRECTORS, HARMLESS FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, LOSS, EXPENSE, OR DAMAGES (INCLUDING COSTS OF
DEFENSE ASSOCIATED THEREWITH) ARISING FROM ANY CAUSE WHATSOEVER, OUT OF THE WORK TO BE PERFORMED UNDER
THIS AGREEMENT, PROVIDED THAT CONTRACTOR HAS FULLY DISCHARGED CONTRACTOR’S OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT AND COMPANY SHALL DEFEND CONTRACTOR AT COMPANY’S SOLE EXPENSE IN ANY LITIGATION INVOLVING THE
SAME, EXCEPTING ONLY CLAIMS MADE BY EMPLOYEES OF CONTRACTOR, FOR WHICH CONTRACTOR SHALL INDEMNIFY AND
HOLD COMPANY HARMLESS IN THE MANNER PROVIDED ABOVE.

INITIAL                     

8.4 (ROUTINE LAND DAMAGE) NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING TO THE CONTRARY, COMPANY SHALL BE SOLELY
RESPONSIBLE FOR AND SHALL PROTECT, INDEMNIFY, DEFEND AND SAVE CONTRACTOR AND ITS SUBCONTRACTORS HARMLESS
FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, LIABILITIES, DEMANDS, CAUSES OF ACTION, JUDGMENTS AND SETTLEMENTS
(INCLUDING ASSOCIATED COSTS AND REASONABLE ATTORNEYS’ FEES) ARISING OUT OF CLAIMED DAMAGES TO THE LAND ON
WHICH CONTRACTOR HAS PERFORMED WORK, AS WELL AS THE CROPS, TREES, GRASS AND OTHER FLORA AND FAUNA
THEREON, WATER AND IRRIGATION WELLS, HOUSES AND OTHER STRUCTURES THEREON (COLLECTIVELY THE “LAND
DAMAGES”) WHERE SUCH CLAIMED LAND DAMAGES RESULT FROM THE NON-NEGLIGENT OPERATIONS OF CONTRACTOR OR ITS
SUBCONTRACTORS IN THE PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK SUBJECT TO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE APPLICABLE SUPPLEMENT.
THE FOREGOING OBLIGATIONS OF DEFENSE AND INDEMNITY OF COMPANY SHALL NOT, HOWEVER, BE APPLICABLE IN THE
EVENT AND TO THE EXTENT ANY SUCH CLAIMED LAND DAMAGES RESULT FROM GROSS NEGLIGENCE ON BEHALF OF
CONTRACTOR OR ITS SUBCONTRACTORS OR WHICH ARE OTHERWISE NOT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THIS
AGREEMENT OR THE APPLICABLE SUPPLEMENT.

INITIAL                     
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8.5 (LIABILITY INSURANCE) THE INDEMNITY OBLIGATION OF THE RESPECTIVE PARTIES, AS SET FORTH IN CLAUSES 8.2, 8.3 AND
8.4 ABOVE, SHALL BE SUPPORTED BY LIABILITY INSURANCE PROVIDED BY EACH PARTY IN THE AMOUNT OF THE LESSER OF
(I) $1,000,000 OR (II) THE MINIMUM AMOUNT REQUIRED BY APPLICABLE LAW.

INITIAL                     

8.6 (LAND ENTRY PERMIT LIABILITY) COMPANY SHALL PROTECT, DEFEND, INDEMNIFY AND SAVE CONTRACTOR HARMLESS
FROM AND AGAINST ANY CLAIM BY THE OWNER OR LESSEE OF LAND AND/OR OF A MINERAL INTEREST IN LAND ON WHICH
WORK IS PERFORMED HEREUNDER, WHICH CLAIM IS BASED UPON ANY THEORY THAT (I) THE OPERATIONS OF CONTRACTOR
HEREUNDER HAVE DEPRECIATED THE VALUE OF THE MINERALS UNDERLYING SUCH LAND, (II) MINERAL TRESPASS, (III) THE
WRONGFUL TAKING, CONVERSION OR DEPRIVATION OF SUBSURFACE AND/OR MINERAL INFORMATION OR (IV) ANY SIMILAR
THEORY OF RECOVERY (COLLECTIVELY “TRESPASS CLAIMS”). HOWEVER, THE FOREGOING INDEMNIFICATION OF COMPANY
SHALL NOT APPLY AND COMPANY SHALL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY TRESPASS CLAIMS IN ANY CASE AND TO THE EXTENT
WHERE CONTRACTOR NEGLIGENTLY FAILS TO OBSERVE CONDITIONS OR RESTRICTIONS CONTAINED IN ANY SUCH PERMITS,
PROVIDED THAT SAME HAVE BEEN PROVIDED BY COMPANY TO CONTRACTOR SUFFICIENTLY IN ADVANCE OF OPERATIONS
ACROSS THE LANDS COVERED THEREBY.

INITIAL                     

8.7 (TAPE RESPONSIBILITY) CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SAFEKEEPING OF FIELD TAPES WHILE SUCH TAPES
ARE IN THE CUSTODY OF CONTRACTOR UNTIL SUCH TIME AS CONTRACTOR DELIVERS SAID TAPES TO A REPRESENTATIVE OF
COMPANY OR PLACES THEM IN THE POSSESSION OF A CARRIER DESIGNATED BY COMPANY (OR IF COMPANY DOES NOT SO
DESIGNATE A CARRIER, ANY REPUTABLE CARRIER SELECTED BY CONTRACTOR) FOR DELIVERY TO COMPANY OR A THIRD
PARTY DESIGNATED BY COMPANY. IN THE EVENT OF LOSS OF OR DAMAGE TO ANY TAPES FOR WHICH CONTRACTOR IS
RESPONSIBLE, AS PROVIDED HEREIN, CONTRACTOR’S SOLE AND ONLY RESPONSIBILITY TO COMPANY SHALL BE, AT THE OPTION
OF COMPANY, EITHER (I) REACQUIRE THE DATA AFFECTED BY SUCH LOSS OR DAMAGE OR TO (II) REFUND (OR GRANT CREDIT)
TO COMPANY FOR ALL COMPENSATION PAID (OR PAYABLE) TO CONTRACTOR WITH RESPECT TO SUCH DATA SO AFFECTED.
NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, CONTRACTOR’S OBLIGATIONS HEREIN SHALL BE FULLY SATISFIED IN THE EVENT
CONTRACTOR OR COMPANY HAS DUPLICATE, UNDAMAGED COPIES OF THE AFFECTED DATA AND, IF CONTRACTOR HAS SUCH
DUPLICATE TAPE, IT PROMPTLY PROVIDES SAME TO COMPANY SUBJECT TO CLAUSE 4 ABOVE.

INITIAL                     

8.8 (WAGES/BENEFITS) CONTRACTOR SHALL BE SOLELY LIABLE FOR THE PAYMENT OF (I) ALL WAGES AND SALARIES EARNED BY
AND PAYABLE TO ITS EMPLOYEES AS WELL AS FOR WITHHOLDING AND/OR PAYMENT OF ALL SOCIAL SECURITY TAXES,
RETIREMENT PENSIONS, BENEFITS AND ANNUITIES, NOW, OR HEREAFTER IMPOSED BY THE GOVERNMENT OF THE U.S.A. OR BY
ANY STATE OR OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF AND (II) FOR BENEFITS WHICH ARE NOW OR HEREAFTER OFFERED BY
CONTRACTOR TO ITS EMPLOYEES. CONTRACTOR SHALL INDEMNIFY AND SAVE COMPANY, ITS OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS,
HARMLESS FROM ANY CLAIMS, DEMANDS OR LIABILITY FOR SUCH WAGES, SALARIES OR BENEFITS, AS WELL AS FOR ANY
WITHHOLDING OR SOCIAL SECURITY TAXES, CONTRIBUTIONS OR OTHER BENEFITS RELATED THERETO.

INITIAL                     

8.9 (HANDLING OF CLAIMS)

8.9.1 (GENERAL) IN THE EVENT EITHER PARTY HERETO LEARNS OF ANY CLAIM, LIABILITY, DEMAND OR CAUSE OF ACTION
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE
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PERFORMANCE OF IT, SAID PARTY SHALL GIVE NOTICE THEREOF AS PROMPTLY AS POSSIBLE TO THE OTHER PARTY. IF
INDEMNIFICATION IS REQUIRED BY ANY OF THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE RESPONSIBLE PARTY SHALL DEFEND THE
OTHER AND PAY ALL SETTLEMENTS, JUDGMENTS, COSTS, INCLUDING REASONABLE ATTORNEYS FEES, AND OTHER EXPENSES,
WHETHER RELATED OR UNRELATED, SIMILAR OR DISSIMILAR TO THE FOREGOING, INCIDENT THERETO. EACH PARTY, IF
REQUESTED, AGREES TO COOPERATE WITH THE OTHER IN ANY SUCH DEFENSE, AND THE RESPONSIBLE PARTY SHALL
REIMBURSE THE OTHER FOR ALL REASONABLE EXPENSES INCURRED IN CONNECTION THEREWITH.

INITIAL                     

8.9.2 (CONTROL OF DEFENSE) THE PARTY HERETO PROVIDING INDEMNITY TO THE OTHER PARTY SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT
TO CONTROL THE DEFENSE OF ANY SUCH CLAIM OR LAWSUIT WITH ATTORNEYS SELECTED BY SUCH PARTY OR ITS INSURERS.
HOWEVER, THE OTHER PARTY SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT, AT ITS SOLE EXPENSE, TO PARTICIPATE IN THE DEFENSE OF SUCH
CLAIM OR LAWSUIT WITH LEGAL COUNSEL OF ITS OWN SELECTION.

INITIAL                     

8.10 (COMPANY’S CO-VENTURERS) IN THE EVENT COMPANY IS IN ASSOCIATION WITH, IS OPERATOR FOR OR HAS SOME OTHER
CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIP WITH OTHER COMPANIES, INDIVIDUALS OR OTHERS IN CONNECTION WITH THE WORK TO BE
PERFORMED HEREUNDER, THE ABOVE INDEMNIFICATIONS EXTENDED BY CONTRACTOR TO COMPANY SHALL ALSO EXTEND TO
THOSE PARTIES, AND THEIR OFFICERS, DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES, TO WHICH COMPANY IS CONTRACTUALLY RELATED.

INITIAL                     

8.11 (CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES) NEITHER PARTY HERETO SHALL, NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, BE LIABLE TO THE
OTHER PARTY FOR ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES ARISING, IN ANY EVENT, FROM THE
CONDUCT OF THE PARTIES UNDER THE TERMS HEREOF, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOSS OF REVENUE OR PROFITS.
FURTHERMORE EACH PARTY HEREBY FOREVER RELEASES AND INDEMNIFIES THE OTHER FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL
CLAIMS, LIABILITIES, DAMAGES AND EXPENSES ARISING THEREFROM.

INITIAL                     

8.12 (EXTRAHAZARDOUS SERVICES) IF CONTRACTOR IS REQUESTED BY COMPANY TO PERFORM SERVICES IN AN URBANIZED OR
ENVIRONMENTALLY SENSITIVE AREA OR UNDER OTHER EXTRAHAZARDOUS CONDITIONS, THEN COMPANY AND CONTRACTOR
SHALL AGREE ON AN INDEPENDENT COMPANY TO MONITOR THE PERFORMANCE OF SUCH SERVICES. NOTWITHSTANDING
ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY HEREIN, IT IS FURTHER AGREED THAT, UNLESS OTHERWISE INSTRUCTED BY COMPANY,
CONTRACTOR SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE IN FULL COMPLIANCE WITH CONTRACTOR’S OBLIGATIONS AND DUTIES HEREUNDER
REGARDING DETONATION OF EXPLOSIVES OR DISCHARGES OF SHOT POINTS BY CONTRACTOR IN THE NORMAL COURSE OF ITS
OPERATIONS WHEN SUCH DETONATIONS OR DISCHARGES ARE OF NO GREATER QUANTITY AND AT NO LESSER DISTANCE FROM
THE OBJECTS AS PROVIDED FOR BY THE DIRECTION OF AN INDEPENDENT MONITORING COMPANY MUTUALLY AGREED UPON
BY COMPANY AND CONTRACTOR. TO THE EXTENT CONTRACTOR’S PERFORMANCE CONFORMS WITH THE FOREGOING
MONITORING COMPANY’S DIRECTIONS, OR COMPANY’S INSTRUCTION, COMPANY SHALL PROTECT, DEFEND, INDEMNIFY AND
HOLD HARMLESS CONTRACTOR FROM AND AGAINST ALL THIRD PARTY CLAIMS, LIABILITIES, LOSS, EXPENSE DAMAGES,
DEMANDS, CAUSES OF ACTION, JUDGEMENTS AND SETTLEMENTS (INCLUDING COSTS OF DEFENSE AND ATTORNEY’S FEES
ASSOCIATED THEREWITH) THAT ARISE OUT OF OR OCCUR AS A RESULT OF SUCH SHOT POINTS/VIBRATOR STATIONS. THE
INDEMNIFICATION SHALL APPLY WHETHER OR NOT CONTRACTOR IS CLAIMED TO BE OR IS ADJUDICATED TO BE NEGLIGENT BY
VIRTUE OF SO LOCATING SUCH SHOT POINTS/VIBRATOR STATIONS.

INITIAL                     
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9. INSURANCE

9.1 (General)

The Contractor shall, at its sole cost, maintain, so long as this Agreement remains in force, and cause its subcontractors to maintain, with one or more reputable
insurance companies, the following insurance:

9.1.1 Worker’s compensation and/or employer’s liability insurance in compliance with the laws of all states in which Survey(s) is/are to be performed or
where Contractor’s personnel are hired covering all employees engaged by Contractor (or its subcontractors) in such Survey(s).

9.1.2 Automobile public liability insurance covering all vehicles performing Survey(s) hereunder, with limits of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) for one
or more persons injured or killed, or property damage incurred per occurrence, combined single limit.

9.1.3 Comprehensive public liability insurance covering all operations hereunder with limits of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) for one or more persons
injured or killed in any one accident, and with property damage limits of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence, combined single limit.

9.1.4 If aircraft are used in the operations hereunder, Aviation Liability Insurance covering all airplanes and helicopters, whether non-owned, chartered, or
hired and furnished by Contractor (or its subcontractors) and used in the operations hereunder in an amount of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per
occurrence combined single limit.

9.1.5 If waterborne vessels are used in operations hereunder, hull and machinery insurance shall be maintained in an amount at least equal to the market
value of each vessel owned by Contractor and used in operations hereunder. In the event the vessel is time-chartered by Contractor, then Contractor shall require
the owner of the vessel to procure such insurance.

9.2 (Insurance Certificates) Before any Survey(s) are commenced by Contractor hereunder, Contractor shall furnish to Company certificates attesting the above
insurance coverages to be in force and providing that Company will be given at least TEN (10) days written notice prior to cancellation, termination or significant
modification thereof and that Company should be named as additional insured.

9.3 (MISCELLANEOUS) IT IS UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED THAT CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE COVERAGE AS DETAILED IN THE
FOREGOING SECTIONS SHALL AFFORD COMPANY PROTECTION AND COVERAGE WITH RESPECT TO THOSE MATTERS COVERED
BY SPECIFIC INDEMNITY AGREEMENTS EXTENDED BY CONTRACTOR ELSEWHERE PROVIDED HEREIN AND, EXCEPT FOR
WORKERS COMPENSATION INSURANCE, COMPANY SHALL BE NAMED AN ADDITIONAL INSURED PARTY UNDER SAID POLICIES
BUT ONLY TO THE EXTENT OF THE LIABILITIES ASSUMED BY CONTRACTOR UNDER THE TERMS HEREOF. ALL INSURANCE
POLICIES REQUIRED BY THIS AGREEMENT TO BE MAINTAINED BY CONTRACTOR SHALL BE ENDORSED WHEREBY
CONTRACTOR’S INSURERS SHALL WAIVE THEIR RIGHTS OF SUBROGATION AGAINST COMPANY, ENTITIES AFFILIATED WITH
COMPANY AND THEIR RESPECTIVE INSURERS TO THE EXTENT OF THE LIABILITIES ASSUMED HEREIN BY CONTRACTOR. ANY
AND ALL DEDUCTIBLES OR RETENTIONS APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE COVERAGES SHALL BE ASSUMED BY
CONTRACTOR AT ITS SOLE EXPENSE. UNLESS PROHIBITED OR LIMITED BY APPLICABLE LAW, INSURANCE PROVIDED BY THE
PARTIES IN SUPPORT OF THEIR RESPECTIVE INDEMNITY OBLIGATIONS SET FORTH IN CLAUSE 8 ABOVE SHALL IN NO WAY SERVE
TO LIMIT EACH SUCH PARTY’S INDEMNITY OBLIGATIONS. CONTRACTOR AND COMPANY SHALL DELIVER TO EACH OTHER
RESPECTIVE CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE EVIDENCING INSURANCE COVERAGES REQUIRED UNDER CLAUSES 8.5 AND 9 OF THIS
AGREEMENT.

INITIAL                     

9.4 (Subcontractors) Contractor shall require, to the extent possible, that each of its subcontractors, if any, performing Work hereunder maintain such insurance
coverages as are required of Contractor.
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10. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS/HES

10.1 (Laws) Contractor shall comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations, both federal, state and local, applicable to any Survey performed by
Contractor hereunder, and shall also comply with, observe and abide by the Health, Environment and Safety standards of any applicable governmental agency.

10.2 (Health, Environment and Safety) Contractor will perform the Survey(s) applying the most current edition of either the IAGC Land Geophysical Operations
Safety Manual or the IAGC Marine Geophysical Operations Safety Manual, as applicable, as a minimum set of standards supplemented by both Contractor and
Company HES rules and work procedures. The more stringent of Company’s or Contractor’s policy and standards shall apply. Company reserves the right to
intervene and consult with Contractor in development of solutions for hazards identified in execution of the Work. Contractor will equally apply HES standards
to, and enforce compliance with all such standards, by all subcontractors of any tier, and the agents, employees or other personnel under their control and will
replace at Contractor’s expense those who fail to comply.

10.3 (Accidents) Contractor shall report all accidents to Company. In the event there is an accident involving damage to the property or injury to the personnel of
Contractor, Company or any third party, any environmental damage or any incidents involving media attention, which arise out of, result from, or is in any way
connected with Contractor’s Work under this Agreement, all Contractor reports shall contain factual information only and will not contain opinion, speculation or
supposition as to fault, liability or prevention. Company reserves the right to participate in the investigation of any incident or accident resulting from the Work
conducted pursuant to this Agreement.
 
11. COMPANY REPRESENTATIVE

Company shall designate in writing a representative of Company (whether an employee of Company or a third party) to whom Contractor’s Party Chief or other
representative may deliver reports and other confidential information developed from Survey(s) and from whom Contractor will receive instructions related
thereto (“Company Representative” or “Representative”). Such Representative shall have the right to be present during the conduct of the Survey(s).
Contractor agrees to accept instructions in connection with the operations hereunder within the scope of this Agreement and the applicable Supplement from such
Company Representative. All such instructions given by the Company Representative to Contractor which relate to the Work shall be binding on Company which
will not be entitled to thereafter disavow same.
 
12. TAXES

12.1 (Equipment) Contractor will be solely responsible for all taxes, duties, rates and assessments that may be levied in respect of any vehicles, equipment,
instruments or supplies furnished by Contractor in the performance of any Survey performed hereunder.

12.2 (Payroll) Contractor will be solely responsible for all payroll taxes, unemployment insurance assessments, federal and/or pension contributions and all other
payroll deductions required to be made according to law in respect of the personnel of Contractor engaged in the performance of any of the Survey hereunder.

12.3 (Income) Contractor shall be solely responsible for any and all taxes assessed against it by the government of the U.S.A. or any state thereof having
jurisdiction, which taxes are assessed against Contractor as a result of compensation earned by Contractor hereunder and Contractor shall protect, indemnify,
defend and save Company harmless from and against any such tax assessments, as well as those described in Clauses 12.1 and 12.2 above.

12.4 (Sales/Use) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Contractor shall in no event be liable for sales, value added, use, gross receipts and similar taxes and charges
assessed by any applicable government agency, as a result of any Survey conducted by Contractor under the terms of this Agreement, even though those taxes are
generally measured by revenue or income of the Contractor, as such incidental taxes are not usually considered as “income” or “profits” taxes as those terms are
generally understood in the geophysical industry. All such sales, value added, use and similar taxes and charges shall be for the account of Company and, if paid
by Contractor, shall be reimbursed by Company under applicable provisions hereof.
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13. COMPENSATION/CONTRACTOR’S RIGHTS

13.1 (Fees) The Company agrees to pay Contractor and Contractor agrees to accept payment for the Work to be performed hereunder at the applicable rates set
forth in Supplemental Agreements.

13.2 (Payment) Subject to contrary provision of any Supplement, the Contractor shall, on or before the 15th day of each month, render to Company an itemized
invoice showing the amount due for services rendered, reimbursable costs and charges incurred by Contractor on behalf of Company hereunder during the
preceding calendar month, such invoice to be accompanied in each case by supporting vouchers and receipts. Except to the extent they are contested in good faith
by Company, the Company shall, within THIRTY (30) days following receipt of such invoice, remit payment of the undisputed portion of same in full in United
States funds by check, bank draft or money order (or bank/wire transfer) payable to Contractor at its offices (or bank account) set forth in Clause 20 or in the
applicable Supplemental Agreement.

13.3 (Late Payment) If Company fails to pay any properly submitted and supported invoice, or portions thereof, of Contractor within the said THIRTY (30) day
period, the unpaid amount thereof shall (unless otherwise subject to bona fide dispute), at the option of Contractor, bear interest until paid at a rate equal to the
prime rate as published in the Wall Street Journal plus two percent or such lesser maximum rate allowed by applicable law, per month until paid.

13.4 (Disputed Invoices) In the event Company has a bona fide question concerning a Contractor invoice or a portion thereof, Company shall give notice thereof
to Contractor specifying the reasons therefore within TEN (10) days after receipt of such invoice and thereafter the late payment charges provided above shall not
apply to such invoice or portion thereof in question or dispute. The Parties shall meet in an effort to answer such questions and to resolve such disputes as
promptly as possible.

13.5 (Effect of Payment) Payment of any Contractor invoice by Company shall not prejudice the right of Company to protest or dispute the correctness of any
invoice or any portion thereof before the expiration of the audit period (Clause 18 below) following the end of the calendar month during which such statement
was submitted. The passage of the audit period (Clause 18 below) without protest shall conclusively establish its correctness.

13.6 (Right to Withhold Data) Contractor shall have the option, exercisable at any time, to (i) retain possession of raw data tapes containing the geophysical data
(the “Data”) acquired under the terms of this Master Agreement or any Supplemental Agreement hereto and, (ii) regardless of any other provision of this Master
Agreement to the contrary, not be required to deliver said Data to Company until such time as all fees and other charges owed by Company to Contractor under
the terms hereof (other than those which are subject to a bona fide question or dispute) are paid in full.
 
14. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

14.1 (Indemnity) The Contractor shall, at its sole cost and expense, protect, defend, indemnify and save harmless Company from and against any and all claims,
demands and liabilities made against or incurred by Contractor and/or Company for the alleged infringement or misappropriation by Contractor of any United
States Letters Patent or patent rights held or licensed by Contractor or others which arise out of the operations of Contractor under the terms hereof provided that
(i) in the event such claim is received by or demand made upon Company, Company notifies Contractor in writing of the receipt of the claim or demand or the
filing of such proceeding within TEN (10) days after the receipt of notice of such claim, demand or service of process thereof, and (ii) Contractor is given
complete control of the defense of such proceedings, including the right to defend, settle and make adjustments in instruments, equipment, methods, software or
processes utilized by Contractor to perform the Work for the purpose of avoiding any such alleged infringement or misappropriation, provided that such
adjustments do not materially and adversely affect the quality of the Data acquired pursuant hereto.

14.2 (Infringement Relief) If Contractor is prevented from performing any of its obligations hereunder by injunction or other legal proceedings based upon any
claims for alleged infringement or misappropriation of any United States Letters Patent or patent rights, or if on account of claims of alleged patent infringement
or misappropriation, Contractor shall discontinue its use of or change instruments, equipment, methods, software or processes contemplated in this Agreement,
Contractor shall, in every such event, be relieved from performance of its obligations hereunder insofar as such nonperformance is the result of such alleged
patent infringement or misappropriation or any injunction or other legal proceeding. The Company shall be relieved of its obligation to make payment hereunder
in respect of any Survey(s) to the extent Contractor is unable to perform same by reason of the alleged patent infringement or misappropriation claim.
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14.3 (Rights to Intellectual Property) The Parties expressly agree that all software programs, documents, materials and other work created, developed or
performed by Contractor in the course of performance of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, non-geophysical data, drawings, reports, designs and
working papers shall be and is the exclusive property of Contractor which shall have all rights, title and interest therein including, but not limited to, patents,
copyrights, trade secrets and any other proprietary rights. Contractor hereby grants to Company a perpetual, non-exclusive, non-transferable royalty-free license
and right to use only for the purposes of this Agreement any software programs, documents, materials or other work delivered to Company by Contractor.
 
15. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed so as to constitute Contractor as a general agent or employee of Company, and the exclusive
management, direction and control of the employees of Contractor and its subcontractors and the Survey(s) to be conducted under the provisions hereof shall,
subject to the right of general supervision of Company’s Representative, always reside in Contractor, Company being interested only in the results obtained.
Company’s right to supervise shall include the right to request, for good cause shown, the removal and replacement (at Contractor’s sole cost) of any of the
personnel of Contractor or its subcontractors. Company shall also have the right of prior approval before the transfer of any of Contractor’s key personnel
assigned to the Work.
 
16. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTS

16.1 (Subcontracts) The Contractor may subcontract to any reputable subcontractor or subcontractors such portions of the Survey(s) to be performed hereunder as
is customary and usual in the performance of same, but Company shall in no way be held liable for payment of any monies due to any such subcontractors. The
Contractor shall, notwithstanding the subcontracting of any Survey(s) to be performed hereunder, remain liable and responsible to Company for the proper
performance of every portion of the Survey(s) subcontracted to others.

16.2 (Assignments) Subject to Clause 16.1 above, neither Party shall assign this Agreement in whole or in part without prior written consent of the other Party
except to a company which is affiliated to the assigning Party or where such assignment is the result of an operation of law. An “Affiliate” of a Party is defined as
any company or other entity which is, either currently or resulting from any future merger, acquisition or reorganization of the affected Party, (i) owned as to at
least a 51% equity interest by the affected Party, (ii) owns the affected Party as to at least a 51% equity interest or (iii) is under common ownership (as to at least a
51% interest) with the affected Party. As for Company, “Affiliate” shall also include those third party entities which are contractually related to Company in the
exploration or development in Area of Operations. The affected Party shall promptly notify the other Party of any such permitted assignment.

16.3 (Right to Pledge – Optional) Contractor reserves the right to pledge its receivables to be received under the terms hereof to the financial institution which
provides working capital financing to the Contractor. In the event Contractor so assigns its receivables, such financial institution shall have no recourse against
Company with regard thereto and Contractor shall defend and indemnify Company for any loss resulting therefrom.
 
17. FORCE MAJEURE

Neither Contractor nor Company shall be responsible for failure to perform the terms of this Agreement or any Supplemental Agreement (other than the payment
of money) when performance is hindered or prevented by strikes, lockouts, or other labor difficulty, war or acts of war, riots or civil unrest, fire, storm, flood,
earthquake, terrorism, vandalism, interference by any government authority, inclement weather that adversely affects Data recording operations or any other cause
beyond the reasonable control of the affected Party, whether or not similar to the matters herein enumerated (“Force Majeure”). Compensation shall be payable
to Contractor for work stoppages or delays due to Force Majeure at the applicable standby rate or such other rate, if any, as may be set forth in the applicable
Supplemental Agreement or as mutually agreed upon in writing by Company and Contractor for up to THIRTY (30) days; and if stoppage for such cause persists
after said THIRTY (30) day period (i) compensation shall be at a rate agreed upon by Company and Contractor if Company requests Contractor to continue to
stand by to resume operations; or (ii) Company or Contractor may forthwith terminate this Agreement or the affected Supplemental Agreement.
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18. AUDIT

18.1 (Audit Right) Contractor shall maintain full and complete records concerning invoices which are based on Contractor’s costs or other reimbursable billing
basis in such manner and detail as to permit reasonable verification of all such charges made to Company. Company shall have the right, at its sole cost, to audit
such records at any reasonable time upon written request to Contractor for a period of ONE (1) year from the date such costs were incurred. Items of
Compensation stated in terms of fixed percentages or fixed lump sums shall not be subject to audit under this clause. Any audit so conducted by Company
hereunder shall be directed solely to Contractor’s records related only to Work performed hereunder for Company and Company payments and reimbursements
related thereto and shall not encompass Contractor’s operations on behalf of any other client. Contractor shall provide reasonable assistance and shall cooperate
with Company in order to facilitate the timely performance of any audits provided for above. No such audit shall pertain to any intellectual/property or trade
secrets of Contractor or records or periods of time which have previously been audited by Company.

18.2 (Audit Results) Upon completion of any audit, Company shall pay Contractor any compensation due hereunder as shown by the audit. Any amount by which
the total payments made by Company to Contractor exceeds the amount due Contractor as shown by the audit shall be promptly refunded to Company.
 
19. TERM AND RENEWAL

This Master Agreement is effective from the day and year above written and will remain in effect until either Party terminates it by giving the other THIRTY
(30) day’s advance written or electronically dispatched notice. However, if a Supplemental Agreement is in effect when such notice is given, termination of the
Master Agreement shall not be effective until the date of termination of such Supplemental Agreement. This Agreement may be renewed from time to time on
such terms and subject to such conditions as the Parties may in writing agree upon.
 
20. NOTICES

20.1 All notices permitted or required to be given under the terms of this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed effective upon receipt if sent by air
mail, registered or certified and return receipt requested, post prepaid, and addressed to the respective parties hereto at their respective addresses shown below:
 

Contractor   Company

Dawson Geophysical Company   
Attention: Mr. C. Ray Tobias   
508 W. Wall Street, Suite 800   
Midland, Texas 79701   

or at such other address as shall be designated in accordance with this Notice provision. Notices given by telex, telecopier, telefax, e-mail or other electronic
means, or by commercial courier/messenger service, shall also be effective upon receipt.

20.2 Either Party may change its address for notice purposes at any time upon giving written notice specifying such new address and the effective date of such
address change to the other Party, as provided above.
 
21. APPLICABLE LAWS/DISPUTES

21.1. (Applicable Law) This Master Agreement and all Supplemental Agreements hereto shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws, both
statutory and common law, of the State of Texas, excluding only those choice-of-law provisions which would require the law of some other jurisdiction to be
applicable.

21.2 (Disputes) In the event, during the term of this Master Agreement or any Supplemental Agreement, a dispute or controversy should arise between the Parties
as to the requirements and/or interpretation hereof or Contractor’s performance hereunder, both Parties agree to meet and negotiate in the utmost good faith in an
attempt to satisfactorily resolve the issue(s), which is the subject of such dispute or controversy.
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21.3 (Governing Rules) As between the Parties, any claims, disputes and controversies arising under or in connection with this Master Agreement or any
Supplemental Agreement which cannot be resolved by mutual agreement shall, upon written notice by one Party to the other, be submitted to arbitration in
accordance with and subject to the Rules of Conciliation and Arbitration of the American Arbitration Association.

21.4 (Forum of Proceedings) All arbitration hearings held pursuant to this Clause shall be conducted in Midland, Texas or such other location agreed upon by
both Parties. The decision of the arbitration shall be (i) final and binding upon the Parties, (ii) not appealable to any court and (iii) enforceable in any court having
jurisdiction over the Party to be charged.

21.5 (Proceedings) Any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Master Agreement, including without limitation, a dispute related to breach,
interpretation, termination or invalidity of this Master Agreement between Company and Contractor shall be finally and exclusively settled by binding arbitration
conducted in accordance with the Rules of the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) in effect as of the date of this Master Agreement. The award of the
arbitrators shall be final, binding on the Parties and not subject to appeal. The arbitral tribunal shall not award special, indirect, consequential, exemplary or
punitive damages. The arbitral tribunal may grant interim or injunctive relief or demand specific performance.

21.6 The arbitration tribunal shall be composed of THREE (3) arbitrators. Each Party shall appoint ONE (1) arbitrator. If, within THIRTY (30) days after receipt
of the claimant’s notification of the appointment of an arbitrator, the respondent has not notified the claimant in writing of the name of the arbitrator it appoints,
the claimant may request the AAA to appoint the second arbitrator. The arbitrators thus appointed shall choose the third arbitrator who will act as the presiding
arbitrator of the tribunal. If within THIRTY (30) days after the appointment of the second arbitrator, the two arbitrators have not agreed upon the choice of the
presiding arbitrator, then either Party may request the AAA to appoint the presiding arbitrator in the same way as a sole arbitrator would be appointed under
Article 4 of the UNCITRAL Rules.

21.7 The arbitration proceedings, including the making of the award shall take place in Midland, Texas. The arbitration shall be administered by the AAA. The
provisions of this Clause 21 shall continue in force notwithstanding the expiration or prior termination of this Master Agreement. The award shall be final and
binding on the Parties and may be entered in any court having jurisdiction and application may be made in such court for a judicial acceptance of the award or an
order of enforcement, as the case may be.
 
22. WAIVER

The rights herein given to either Party hereto may be exercised from time to time, singularly or in combination, and the waiver of one or more of such
rights shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such rights in the future or of any one or more of the other rights which the exercising Party may have. No waiver of
any breach of a term, provision or condition of this Master Agreement or any Supplement by one Party shall be deemed to have been made by the other Party,
unless which waiver is expressed in writing and signed by an authorized representative of such Party, and the failure of either Party to insist upon the strict
performance of any term, provision or condition of this Agreement or any Supplemental Agreement, or to exercise any option herein given, shall not be construed
as a waiver or relinquishment in the future of the same or any other term, provision, condition or option.
 
23. DEFAULT

In the event either Party hereto should, at any time during the term hereof, commit an act of bankruptcy or assign, voluntarily or involuntarily, its assets for
the benefit of its creditors or should proceedings be commenced against or by either Party under any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar statute or should either
Party fail to comply with any material term or provision hereof (any such action or condition being hereinafter referred to as “Default”) the other Party may
terminate this Master Agreement, or the appropriate Supplemental Agreement, at its option exercisable at any time after THIRTY (30) days have elapsed after
giving notice to the defaulting Party of such Default and the defaulting Party has failed, during such period, to cure such Default or to commence such cure to the
reasonable satisfaction of the other Party.
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24. SURVIVAL OF TERMS

The termination of this Agreement, or any Supplemental Agreement concluded in connection with this Agreement, shall not release the Parties from obligations
which, expressly or by their nature, survive the termination hereof beyond such termination. In particular, and as examples and not by way of limitation, each
Party shall remain, notwithstanding the termination hereof or of any Supplemental Agreement, bound to their respective obligations arising under Clauses 5, 7, 8,
10, 12, 13, 17, 18 and 21 above.
 
25. INUREMENT

Subject to Clause 16 above, this Master Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.
 
26. ENTIRE AGREEMENT/MODIFICATION

This Master Agreement together with each Supplemental Agreement, as written, embodies the entire contract between the Parties hereto with respect to the
subject matter hereof and supersedes and replaces any previous agreement, oral or written, made and entered into between the Parties hereto respecting the
Survey(s) to be performed hereunder. No modification of this Master Agreement or any Supplemental Agreement shall be valid unless in writing, referencing this
Master Agreement or the applicable Supplemental Agreement and signed by an authorized representative of both Parties.
 
27. COUNTERPARTS

This Master Agreement and any Supplemental Agreement may be executed in TWO (2) or more counterpart copies, each of which shall be deemed an original
and together they shall constitute one and the same instrument. Faxed or telecopied signature pages shall be deemed an original provided that originally signed
signature pages are exchanged timely.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Master Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
 

   DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY

By:     By:   
    C. Ray Tobias

Title:     Title:  Executive Vice President & COO

Date:     Date:   
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Exhibit 10.11

SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT NO.             
To

Master Geophysical Data Acquisition Agreement
Dated:             

Between              (“Company”) and
Dawson Geophysical Company (“Contractor”)

            
 
1. GENERAL

All geophysical operations conducted by Contractor will be performed in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Supplemental Agreement (the
“Supplement”) and the Master Geophysical Data Acquisition Agreement referenced above (the “Master Agreement”).

Contractor shall render Services described herein, and Company will compensate Contractor at rates specified herein. This Survey will consist of the
acquisition of approximately          square miles of 3-D seismic data across lands located on the              as directed by Company (the “Project”).

 
2. EQUIPMENT AND PERSONNEL

Surveying

Trimble R8 GNSS and Leica Geosystems System 1200 or Viva receivers for static control and RTK with GPSeismic software for data reduction to SEG P-
3 or SEG P-1 and output.

Recording

OYO GSR, ARAM Aries and/or I/O RSR recording system 5,000+/- recording channels @ 2-millisecond sample rate with 6-geophones per group.

Energy Source

HEMI 60 or Mertz Model M26HD 623B or I/O AHV-IV vibrators operating with Pelton Advance II and/or Vib-Pro sweep control electronics, Dawson
GPS and/or TigerNav positioning for the vibrators and DR servo valve enhancement, subject to crew availability.

Basic Crew Personnel
 

 •  One party manager with 4x4 pickup truck
 

 •  One assistant party manager with 4x4 pickup truck
 

 •  One observer with 4x4 pickup truck
 

 •  One assistant observer
 

 •  Up to Twenty-one recording helpers with one personnel carrier
 

 •  Six vibrator operators
 

 •  One mechanic



3. RECORDING PARAMETERS

            -active-channel recording
            -foot geophone intervals
            -foot receiver line spacing
            -foot source intervals
            -source line interval
            -sweeps per source point
            -second sweep
            -second listen time
            -geophones per trace
             ms. sample interval
Record              lines of              (            ) active channels per source point
Conventional cross line roll on roll off
             ft. x              ft. bin size

 
4. COMPENSATION
 

Turnkey rate for acquisition, per sq. mi of surface coverage   $             USD  
Turnkey rate for processing, per sq. mi of surface coverage   $             USD  
Stand-by and experimental rate, per hour   $             USD  

Note: Source points that are skipped and cannot be made up at another location will be computed in the mileage compensation. Additional source points, if
any, above the totals reflected in Section 3 above, will be charged for on a prorated basis.

INVOICING

Invoices shall be payable by Company as provided in Clause 13 of the Master Agreement. All invoices permitted and required under the terms of this
Supplement, shall be sent to the Company at the following address:

 
Company Name:        
Attention:        
Address:        

       
Contact Phone Number:       

 
5. REIMBURSABLE ITEMS

In addition to the compensation set forth in Section 4 above, Company shall reimburse, as required, Contractor for the following:
 

 
A. Any Company approved permit fees, and all permit related costs including: fees paid to landowners, leaseholders; and federal, state and local

authorities by Contractor.
 

 
B. If requested by Company, cost of Permit Agent/line clearance supervisor and Vehicle/s used in securing permits for lines or portions thereof (also

applicable if any lines permitted are subsequently abandoned, at Company’s request, without completing seismic recording operations) (Per
Agent/Per Day)

 

 
C. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Clause 8 of the Master Agreement, damages or claims for damages to land as well as to

crops and other flora, livestock, fences, buildings, water wells and other structures in or on the land, where such damages have resulted from
prudently conducted operations and are not attributable to negligence or other fault on the part of Contractor or its employees.



 
D. Subject to the approval of Company, the cost of any specialized equipment that may be required to gain access to areas which, due to the nature of

the terrain, oil field H2S requirements or permit requirements, are inaccessible to normal crew equipment, the trucking and use of such equipment for
such activities as line clearance and/or dozing (including any snow plowing/removal) equipment.

 

 E. Cost of non-standard source and receiver line surveying requirements.
 

 

F. (Optional) As a result of the potential shortage of subcontractors for this Project, although Contractor will endeavor to use those subcontractors that
have offered the most attractive pricing and availability utilized in determining pricing for this Project, if subcontractors used on this Project require
compensation that exceed that used in determining pricing of this Project, then Company will be responsible for those excess costs. Contractor will
secure prior Company approval for any excessive compensation.

 

 G. Damage to Contractor’s equipment caused by livestock or wildlife/varmints/rodents, such repair costs will be shared by Contractor and Company.
 

 H. All costs associated with fence and gate building for vibrator access, as required.
 

 I. All costs associated with H2S monitoring and air pack equipment, if required.
 

 J. Any special services such as water well testing, archeological, ecological, environmental and particle motion monitoring services as required.
 

 K. Possible environmental and/or reclamation services if required will be invoiced as a third party.
 

 L. GPS line clearance and reclamation services as required.
 

 M. Bitter weed washing services of field equipment as required by land owners.
 

 N. Highway permits secured in order to mobilize the vibrators to the prospect will be invoiced as a third party charge.
 

 O. Any applicable sales, use or value added taxes, State mandated trucking permits, duties, levies or fees on Contractor’s Services.
 

 P. Rental of required safety equipment (such as H2S detectors, pipeline detectors, etc.), and/or services requested by Company.
 
 6. ITEMS TO BE FURNISHED BY COMPANY

Program Maps

Company shall furnish Contractor with a copy of all signed permit and preplot maps of suitable scale to permit advance logistical planning, program
assignment and survey tract identification and construction of shot point location maps.



7. CONFLICTS

Any conflict between the terms of this Supplement and the Master Agreement shall be controlled by the terms of the Master Agreement unless any terms of
the Master Agreement are specifically altered by the terms hereof.

 
8. TERMINATION

This Supplement will terminate upon the completion of the Project or as provided for in the Master Agreement.

This Supplemental Agreement No.      is executed by the Parties as of the date shown above.
 
COMPANY   DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY

By:     By:   

Title:     Title:   

Date:     Date:   



Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Dawson Seismic Services Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Dawson Seismic Services ULC, a Canadian corporation



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Dawson Geophysical Company:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (No. 333-146460) on Form S-8, and (No. 333-180563) on Form S-3, of Dawson
Geophysical Company of our reports dated December 5, 2012, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Dawson Geophysical Company as of
September 30, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’ equity and other comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows,
for each of the years in the three-year period ended September 30, 2012, and the related financial statement schedule, and the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting as of September 30, 2012, which reports appear in the September 30, 2012 annual report on Form 10-K of Dawson Geophysical
Company.

KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
December 5, 2012
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CERTIFICATIONS

I, Stephen C. Jumper, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Dawson Geophysical Company;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.

Dated: December 5, 2012
 

/s/ Stephen C. Jumper
Stephen C. Jumper
President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)
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CERTIFICATIONS

I, Christina W. Hagan, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Dawson Geophysical Company;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.

Dated: December 5, 2012
 

/s/ Christina W. Hagan
Christina W. Hagan
Executive Vice President, Secretary and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Dawson Geophysical Company (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2012, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Stephen C. Jumper, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
 

 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)); and
 

 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: December 5, 2012
 

/s/ Stephen C. Jumper
Stephen C. Jumper
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Dawson Geophysical Company (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2012, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Christina W. Hagan, Executive Vice President, Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
 

 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)); and
 

 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: December 5, 2012
 

/s/ Christina W. Hagan
Christina W. Hagan
Executive Vice President, Secretary and Chief Financial Officer


